University of Durham Centre for Middle Eastern and Islamic Studies

THE LEGACY OF THE CORPORATIST STATE: EXPLAINING WORKERS' RESPONSES TO ECONOMIC LIBERALISATION IN EGYPT

by

Nicola Christine Pratt

Durham Middle East Paper No. 60 November 1998



2 7 FEB 2001

Pam PK1373 PRA

Durham Middle East Papers ISSN 1357-7522 No. 61

Durham Middle East Papers are published by: Centre for Middle Eastern and Islamic Studies University of Durham South End House South Road Durham DH1 3TG United Kingdom Tel: 0191-374 2822 Fax: 0191-374 2830

244 086

Editorial board:

Dr Anoushiravan Ehteshami Dr Fadia Faqir Alejandra Galindo (Assistant Editor) Professor Timothy Niblock Dr Paul Starkey

Series editor: Dr Neil Quilliam

The Durham Middle East Papers series covers all aspects of the economy, politics, social science, history, literature and languages of the Middle East. Authors are invited to submit papers to the Editorial Board for consideration for publication (please mail to: Dr Nell Quilliam).

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording, or otherwise (other than short extracts for the purposes of review), without the prior written permission of the Centre for Middle Fastern and Islamic Studies, University of Durham.

U 1998 Nicola Christine Pratt and the University of Durham

Contents

Introduction		1
Part One:	Workers and the Corporatist State 1952-1976: Inclusionary Corporatism and	8
	Import Substitution Industrialisation 1974–1989: Incorporation into the World Capitalist	9
	Economy and Exclusionary Corporatism	16
Part Two:	The Corporatist State and Economic Liberalisation	22
	The Government and Public Sector Managers	26
	The Gavernment and Public Sector Workers	29
	The Government and the Trade Unions	32
	The Government and Private Sector Businesspeople	35
Part Three:	Formal Responses to Economic Liberalisation	37
	Trade Unions	38
	The Judiciary	44
	Participation in Legislative Elections and	
	Political Parties	45
	The Use of Other Government-designed Measures	48
	Gender and Political Responses	49
Part Four:	Informal Responses to Economic Liberalisation	51
	Strikes and Other Protests	52
	Informal Economic Activity and Moonlighting	56
	Clientelism and Family and Community Networks	59
	Links with Civil Organisations	61
Conclusion		64
Appendix		69
	Table 1: Privatisation of Public Sector Companies	
	by Method, until March 1997	69
	Table 2: The Number of Workers' Protests, 1986-1993	70
Bibliography		71

INTRODUCTION

Since 1991, the Egyptian government has embarked on a radical reform of the economy through the implementation of a structural adjustment package and various economic liberalisation measures, including the privatisation of the public enterprise sector. Together, these economic policies represent a radical change in the nature of the Egyptian state. Until recently, Egypt had one of the largest public sectors in the world in relation to its GDP. The public sector was the employer of almost half the non-agricultural work force. Through the public sector, the state provided subsidised goods and services for the general population. These distribution policies were aimed at incorporating the urban and rural lower and middle classes (the 'popular sector') into the state structures. The incorporation process was formalised through the creation of organisations, such as the trade union federation, professional syndicates, and agricultural co-operatives. Together, these constitute the main features of 'state corporatism"—"a system of interest and/or attitude representation, a particular modal or ideal-typical institutional arrangement for linking the associationally organised interests of civil society with the decisional structures of the state."1

The problem that this paper will attempt to examine is how economic liberalisation and the restructuring of the state's economic role affects corporatist structures, and how in turn this will affect the nature of politics in Egypt. This will be welrieved by focusing on the political responses of workers to these new economic policies. The political responses to economic liberalisation have yet to be substantially considered by those studying this

Ali E. Hillal Dessouki, "The Public Sector in Egypt: Organisation, Evolution and Strategies of Reform", in Heba Handoussa and Gillian Potter (eds.), Employment and Structural Adjustment (Cairo: The American University in Cairo Press, 1991), pp. 261.

³ Ibid., pp. 263.

Philippe C. Schmitter, "Still the Century of Corporatism?". The Review of Politics, vol. 36, no. 1, January 1974, pp. 86.

subject." This absence of the 'political' stands in contradistinction to the abundance of material which currently exists on the 'economic' aspects of economic liberalisation. There is currently little attempt to link these economic changes to political changes, or to treat those affected by economic liberalisation policies as other than victims of circumstances, rather than political actors who respond to the developments around them.

The paper will focus on public sector workers due to their (previous) importance as a pillar of the state through their incorporation within the trade union federation. Also, public sector workers have a distinct relation to the state, as both employees and consumers, whereas, all other workers are consumers alone of public sector goods and services. Consequently, public sector workers have felt the effects of economic liberalisation and privatisation in a different way than non-public sector workers. However, those parts of the paper that discuss workers' relation to the state as consumers are applicable to workers in general.

It is true that workers are not a homogeneous group, and may have various needs (either actual or perceived) according to their gender, age, religion or ethnicity. Nevertheless, all workers share an interest in guaranteeing an adequate standard of living for themselves and their families, as do other sections of society. Workers can be distinguished from other societal groups due to their relation to the means of production; that is, they must sell their labor in order to earn a living. Any modifications to the available ways for

With the exception of Marsha Pripstein Posusney, "Labor as an Obstacle to Privatization: The Case of Egypt", in Iliya Harik, and Denis J. Sullivan (eds.), Privatization and Liberalization in the Middle East (Bloomington & Indianapolis: Indiana University Press, 1992); Omar El Shafei, "Workers, Trade Unions and the State in Egypt: 1984–1989", Cairo Papers in Social Science, vol. 18, monograph 2, Summer 1995; Hala Shukr Allah, "al-Awda' al-iqtisadiya wa istratijiyat al-baqa' al-khasa bi-l-fuqara' fi Misr" [Economic conditions and the strategy for survival relating to the poor in Egypt], (Cairo: Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997); and, Huwayda 'Adli, "al-Haraka al-'ummaliya wa aliyat muqawamat al-ifqar: 1987–1993" [The labour movement and the mechanics of resisting impoverishment: 1987-1993], (Cairo: Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997).

Economic liberalisation and privatisation in Egypt has been closely documented by all sorts of concerned parties, such as the various UN agencies, USAID, and the Social Fund for Development.

workers to sell their labour have an important influence over their standard of living. Therefore, workers are acutely sensitive to the effects of changes in the economic system, they react to these changes in order to guarantee their previous standard of living.

Nazih Ayubi's comprehensive study of the Arab state provides the theoretical basis for this dissertation. Ayubi identifies Antonio Gramsci's definition of the state as being the most useful for studying politics in the Arab world. According to Gramsci, the state is, "the entire complex of practical and theoretical activities with which the ruling class not only justifies and maintains its dominance, but manages to win the active consent of those over whom it rules." For Gramsci, dominance is not only a question of coercion, but also of persuasion. This type of dominance he termed 'hegemony', which is similar to but more comprehensive in meaning than Weber's concept of 'legitimacy'. The mechanisms of coercion are located within political society—such as the army and police. The mechanisms of persuasion are located within the institutions of civil society such as the education system, the media, organised religion, interest groups, and the family—and they serve to promote the state's values. To summarise, the state = political society + civil society. The mechanisms of persuasion are located within the institutions of civil society such as the education system, the media, organised religion, interest groups, and the family—and they serve to promote the state's values. To summarise, the state = political society + civil society.

In the case of the Arab world, Ayubi argues, the state has developed 'corporatist' mechanisms in order to achieve hegemony over its citizens. Corporatism is a type of state—society relations that is based on the linking of groups, classes, and individuals to the state through various means (e.g., patronage, clientelism, welfare measures, etc.), and through various 'organisational' modalities (trade unions, networks, 'shillas', etc.). In

Nazih Ayubi. Over-stating the Arab State: Politics and Society in the Middle East (London: I. B. Tauris, 1995).

cited in Ibid., pp. 5.

lhid . pp. 6.

Ibid., pp. 6.

cited in Ibid., pp. 6.

[&]quot; Ibul., pp. 34-35.

¹⁹ Ibid., pp. 35.

countries such as Egypt, state corporatism was a historical necessity for enabling capitalist accumulation and state building in the postcolonial era. The state was forced to re-engineer societal relations in order to marginalise those elements that still supported the pre-colonial arrangements, such as the large landowners, while co-opting those sections of society that would support the state's new development strategy of import substitution industrialisation (ISI).

ISI relied particularly on the productive abilities of the urban working class, the consumptive abilities of the urban population, and the extraction of capital from the agricultural sector. Therefore, it was essential for the state to gain the support of these different sections of society. This was achieved by offering benefits to these groups such as employment security, improved working conditions, and free education and health insurance. Moreover, the state granted these benefits not as privileges, but as rights, that were inscribed in the constitution. These social and economic rights were offered in compensation for the withdrawal of political and civil rights. The production and distribution of these goods and services was facilitated through the creation of a large public sector. The expansion in the state's production and distribution capabilities was made possible by the growth of the economy during the early years of the ISI strategy.

On the ideological level, the state attempted to strengthen corporatist structures by promoting a nationalist discourse that emphasised the importance of national unity as a means of state-building. Workers had a special position within this discourse since they were called on to use their productive efforts to contribute to the development of the nation. This had the effect of maintaining a strong feeling of patriotism among workers, which in turn downplayed class divisions within society and delegitimised any challenges to regime authority.

Individuals and groups have been linked to the state as either producers or consumers of public sector goods and services (or both, in the case of public

¹⁷ Ihid., pp. 192.

¹¹ Ibid., pp. 33.

¹¹ Ibid., pp. 217.

sector workers). The state has created these linkages by the establishment of a whole range of organisations and associations, such as the trade unions, professional syndicates, agricultural co-operatives, consumer co-operatives, and private voluntary organisations. As a result of these corporatist arrangements, politics in the Arab world is not a question of voting in elections or joining political parties (that is, exercising civil and political rights), but rather one of gaining access to socio-economic resources, or 'consumption'." (that is, exercising social and economic rights). For the state, politics has become an act of deciding how and to whom to distribute its patronage.

There are a number of ways in which individuals and groups within a corporatist state can gain access to socio-economic resources. First, there are the 'formal' channels created by the state, such as the trade unions and other corporatist associations. Second, there are the less 'formal' clientelistic networks which often rely on kinship and community relations. However, the distinction between the formal and the less formal is often difficult to distinguish. For example, kinship networks may be used within trade unions as a means of gaining access to more goods and services.

Whether 'formal' or 'informal', these different networks reinforce the importance of vertical linkages, since access to resources is predicated on the ability of an individual or group to link up to someone higher in the hierarchy until the chain stops at the source of all goods and services: the state. Therefore, an individual may find themselves as part of a vertical linkage, such as family or tribe, as well as a horizontal linkage, such as class. This means that workers may seek solutions other than collective action based on class as a way to secure their interests. ¹⁷

During periods of economic expansion, corporatist arrangements appear to be an efficient way to organise societal interests. In a country such as Egypt, where the postcolonial regime lacked a social power base upon coming to power, corporatist arrangements allowed the creation of a class alliance that supported the regime. Corporatism also gave the state some autonomy from its

Diane Singerman, Avenues of Participation (Cairo: The American University in University 1997), pp. 245.

P Ibid., pp. 175.

citizens in the political sphere. As long as the state included its allies economically, it could exclude them politically.

However, corporatist arrangements are based on two contradictory processes: investment (in production) and consumption (of welfare goods and services). By the end of the 1960s, it had become apparent that these two processes were simultaneously unsustainable. The public sector was unable to produce the goods and services necessary to maintain the corporatist structures at the same rate that they were being consumed. This was due to the fact that the state was unable to extract economic resources from its citizenship to invest in the production process without offering political rights in return. 18 Since the state's hegemony is dependent on its ability to provide socio-economic goods and services, when the state is unable to fulfil these promises, its entire legitimacy is called into question.19 This poses the regime with a dilemma: whether to pursue its production role, or its welfare role.30 To a certain extent, from the mid-1970s until the mid-1980s, the international environment allowed Egypt to solve this dilemma. The oil boom and the Cold War made Egypt a recipient of considerable sums of economic rent that could be used for investment purposes.21 This enabled the state to continue both its production and welfare functions. However, from the mid-1980s onward, this rent began to evaporate due to the fall in oil prices and the end of the US-Soviet conflict. The result, today, is a fiscal crisis which the state must solve domestically, through economic liberalisation and a restructuring of its relations with society.

Before considering the types of workers' responses to economic liberalisation. Part One of this paper will provide a historical framework through which to understand current worker strategies, based on the development of stateworker relations since 1952. Part Two will look at the measures taken by the state to contain the opposition of workers and trade unionists to economic liberalisation. Parts Three and Four take a closer look at the types of responses to economic liberalisation and privatisation articulated by workers. These

See Mark Cooper, Egyptian Arab Socialism and Its Breakdown, unpublished doctoral dissertation (Northeastern University, Boston, Massachusetts, 1981), Ch. 4.

[&]quot; Ayubi, op. cit., pp. 450.

¹⁶ Cooper, op. cit., Ch. 4.

²¹ Ayubi, op. cit., pp. 219.

responses are divided into 'formal' (Part Three) and 'informal' (Part Four), although it is stated that there is no clear dividing line between the two categories. The distinction is rather in their relation to the state and the state's attitude toward them. Finally, after explaining the nature of workers' responses in relation to the structures of the corporatist state and the changes within these structures as a result of economic liberalisation, there will be some attempt to predict the future of politics in Egypt with relevance to workers.

80.08

PART ONE

WORKERS AND THE CORPORATIST STATE

This part seeks to set the context for worker responses to economic liberalisation and privatisation by examining the nature of state-worker relations between 1952 (when the Free Officers came to power) and 1991 (when the Economic Reform and Structural Adjustment Program began). A knowledge of the political, economic, and social structures laid in place during this period is crucial to understanding both the nature of Egyptian politics today, and its influence on workers' reactions to economic liberalisation measures.

Using Guillermo O'Donnell's model of bureaucratic authoritarianism, Huwayda 'Adli identifies two key periods in the development of state-worker relations in post-Revolution Egypt: inclusionary corporatism (1952-76) and exclusionary corporatism (1976-81). Inclusionary corporatism (mainly under Gamal 'Abd al-Nasser) corresponds to the period of import substitution industrialisation (ISI), where the state promoted domestic industry, accompanied by populist measures, such as the extension of welfare and income redistribution measures. Exclusionary corporatism (mainly pursued under Anwar al-Sadat) corresponds to the period of 'incorporation into the world capitalist economy', that is, an opening (or reopening) to the world capitalist economy in terms of attracting foreign investment and promoting an export-led strategy, as a means of carrying out the industrialisation deepening that had failed under Nasser. Politically, this necessitated forming coalitions with the domestic and international entrepreneurial bourgeoisie, while excluding the 'popular' sectors which had benefited from the welfare measures of the previous era.22

Huwayda "Adli, al-'Ummal w-al-styasa: al-dawr al-styasi li-l-haraka al-'ummaliya fi Misr min 1952-1981 [Workers and Politics: the political role of labour movement in Egypt 1952-1981] (Cairo: Kitab Al-Ahali, no. 45, 1993), pp. 355-58. John Waterbury also uses Guillermo's model to characterise the changes in the political

1952-1976: Inclusionary Corporatism and Import Substitution Industrialisation

Immediately following the July Revolution, the Free Officers did not possess a systematic strategy for managing their relations with society. The main aims of the new regime were to prevent any opposition to its power. Therefore, it merely responded retroactively to events. The first major event where the regime demonstrated its attitude toward workers was through its brutal crushing of the strike against the management of a Kafr al-Dawwar textile factory, in August 1952.²³ These events demonstrated that the regime would not tolerate independent workers' actions, especially as it suspected that communist activists may have been behind the strikes.²⁴ Also, at this stage, the Free Officers wished to encourage private capital to develop the national economy, and they viewed left-wing influence and trade union militancy as a threat to this end.²⁵

In an attempt to control worker activism, the regime issued Law no. 317/1952 (the law on individual contracts), which withdrew the right to strike and limited trade union pluralism by permitting no more than one trade union in each occupational category. However, the regime conceded to long-standing workers' demands, such as guaranteeing job security and improving work conditions. These measures were effective in winning the support of a significant number of trade unionists and workers.²⁵

economy of Egypt between 1930 and 1981. However, he characterises the period from 1930 to 1952 as the 'easy' ISI phase, which was exclusionary, and the period from 1952 to 1979 as the 'difficult' phase of industrialisation deepening, which was more 'inclusionary'. See John Waterbury, The Egypt of Nasser and Sadat (Princeton University Press, 1983), pp. 6–10.

For a detailed account of the incidents, see Joel Beinin and Zachary Lockman. Workers on the Nile (London: I.B. Tauris, 1988), pp. 421-26.

^{* /}bid., pp. 425.

Joel Beinin, "Labor, Capital, and the State in Nasserist Egypt, 1952–1961", International Journal of Middle East Studies, vol. 21, Fall 1989, pp. 73.

Beinin and Lockman, op. cit., pp. 432-33.

The reactions of the trade unionists and workers to the new regime may be explained by previous industrial relations in Egypt. First, by providing job security and other workplace guarantees, the state carried on the tradition of paternalism that had previously existed between factory owners and their employees. This linked Egyptian workers to the regime as clients and limited their autonomy. Furthermore, the regime appeared to be the embodiment of the nationalist struggle against British occupation. During this struggle, deep linkages between workers' and the nationalist movement had evolved, greatly influencing the political outlook of the former, but also reducing their political autonomy:

The specific character of the Egyptian workers' movement was shaped by the facts that from 1882 to 1956 Egypt was subject to British colonial domination and that until the late 1930s nearly all of the large-scale employers were also foreigners whose economic power was enhanced and protected by the British occupation. Under these conditions economic demands and demands for greater autonomy and respect in the workplace were seen as part of the nationalist struggle. ... Subsequently there was never, in the minds of most worker activists, a clear distinction between the economic demands of workers and the political demands of the nationalist movement. Both were perceived as part of the same struggle for Egyptian self-determination.²⁸

Despite the regime's move to legislate in favour of employment security, there were significant numbers of job losses due to a downturn in the economy following the end of World War II. As a result, the period from 1952 to 1958 witnessed three times the number of labour disputes than the seven-year period preceding 1952.²⁹ The dramatic increase in strikes, despite their illegality, may be attributed to workers' beliefs that the new regime would intervene on their behalf to rectify the injustices they suffered at the hands of their employers.³⁰

⁷⁷ Ibid., pp. 447.

²⁸ Ibid., pp. 450.

²⁴ Beinin, op. ca., pp. 76.

¹⁶ Ibid., pp. 77.

The sequestration of foreign-owned capital in Egypt, following the Suez Crisis in 1956, led to a significant enlargement of the state's ownership of manufacturing and financial enterprises and the design of the first five-year industrial plan in 1957. This marks the beginning of etatiste economic policies, accompanied by further measures to curtail the political independence of the trade union movement, especially in light of the fact that the state had become a significant employer. 32

The regime's concession to the trade unions' desire to form the General Federation of Egyptian Trade Unions (GFETU), on 30 January 1957, represents the regime's recognition of the need to create a mechanism for coopting trade union leaders in order to exert control over labour. The selection of the GFETU's executive board was determined solely by the government. The appointment of Ahmad Fahim, a representative of the textile workers, some of the most militant workers in the Egyptian labour force, and the only member of the executive board with a history of association with the left, illustrates the regime's tactic of co-opting in order to control. ¹³

Between 1959 and 1964 a set of laws were laid down governing all aspects of employment and trade union organisation in Egypt. The 1959 law created the pyramid structure of the trade unions, with company unions at the base, grouped together according to field of activity in national unions. The national unions formed the middle layer of the pyramid, and at the top, supervising them all, was the GFETU. A new post of minister of labour was created, with the powers to seek the dissolution through the courts of any union opposing the constitution. The new national unions were granted increased powers in the field of collective negotiation of work contracts and greater responsibilities in the spending of membership dues on the provision of health, social, cultural,

Alan Richards, and John Waterbury. A Political Economy of the Middle East (Cairo. The American University in Cairo Press, 1991), pp. 195.

Patrick Clawson, "The Development of Capitalism in Egypt", Khamsin, no. 9, 1981, np. 99.

Beinin, op. cn., pp. 75; Robert Bianchi, Unruly Corporatism (New York & Oxford, Oxford University Press, 1989), pp. 129.

Adli, 1993, op. cit., pp. 161.

and professional services and the establishment of saving funds, co-operatives, and athletic and cultural clubs for their membership.³⁵

In July 1961, following a period of deep mistrust between the regime and the private sector, the public sector was again expanded by means of the sequestration and nationalization of the majority of private enterprises. The regime created its first economy-wide five-year plan. [11] embodied a straightforward ISI strategy, combining aspects of the easy (textiles, sugar, automobile assembly, pharmaceuticals) and hard (heavy engineering, steel, chemicals, and fertilizers). 37

This prompted yet another revision of previous laws governing worker-employer relations and the role of the unions. Law 62/1964 reinforced previous provisions restricting the formation and activities of trade unions, with the number of national unions being reduced from 59 in 1959, to 28 in 1964. However, the provisions formerly preventing unions from carrying out political, religious, and entrepreneurial activities were repealed in order to facilitate the trade unions 'contribution to national development'. Workers were granted new rights in the workplace. The workweek was reduced to 42 hours, the minimum wage was doubled, and a social insurance scheme was introduced. The state guaranteed employment in the civil service for all university graduates and in public enterprises for all secondary school certificate holders. Worker representation was introduced on the boards of management of all public sector firms, while all state employees were entitled to a share in company profits. However, the unions and the unions is a share in company profits.

¹⁶ Ihid., pp. 145.

[&]quot;Clawson, op. cit., pp. 100.

Richards, and Waterbury, op. cit., pp. 196.

Nazih Ayubi, Bureaucracy and Politics in Contemporary Egypt (London: Ithaca Press, 1980), pp. 452.

Bianchi, op. vit., pp. 128.

^{**} Robert Mabro, The Egyptian Economy 1952-1972 (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1974), pp. 154-60.

With the state undertaking the unions' traditional role of 'protecting workers' rights', the unions were reduced to carrying out technical functions, such as raising productivity and efficiency, and mobilising support for government policies. The centralisation of the trade unions, and the emergence of an "authoritarian 'workers' aristocracy" with wide, government-granted powers, were manifestations of the trend toward bureaucratisation and the negation of an independent political role for the trade unions. The protecting workers is a support of the trade unions and the negation of the trade unions.

Workers were further co-opted into the state through the creation of the Arab Socialist Union (ASU) in 1962. The ASU was created as a mechanism for mobilising the 'working forces of the people'—that is, workers, peasants, intellectuals, soldiers, and the national bourgeoisie—and 50 percent of seats within the organisation were reserved for workers and peasants. However, the category of worker was considerably expanded by the rising elites, so that technocrats, managers, and professionals could occupy more than their fair share of seats at the expense of workers and peasants in the strict sense of the term. ¹³

Meanwhile, workers benefited from the success of the ISI strategy in its early years. One million new jobs were generated and growth rates of 6 percent per annum were recorded. This enabled the state to universally extend public services, such as health care and education, to subsidise food, transportation, and utilities, and to provide inexpensive state sector housing. These social policies helped to build popular support for Nasser's regime.

To a certain extent, the system of corporatism appeared to lead to unprecedented political stability. Worker quiescence largely characterises the period from 1958 onward. This is not surprising in view of the fact that collective action was illegal. The vertical stratification of the trade unions and the differentiation of labour from the liberal professions also made collective organisation highly difficult. On the ideological level, the regime's economic nationalist discourse helped to delegitimise work stoppages or any other

⁴ Ayubi, 1980, op. cit., pp. 453-55.

⁴³ Ibid., pp. 455; Bianchi, op. cit., pp. 128

⁴⁷ Ayubi, 1980, op. cit., pp. 446-47.

⁴⁴ Richards, and Waterbury, op. cit., pp. 196.

actions that could threaten production.⁴⁵ Indeed, even the word 'strike' disappeared from public vocabulary.⁴⁶ Meanwhile, the regime's strongly anti-imperialist stance, enthusiastically supported by the Marxist intelligentsia, made it even more difficult for the concept of class conflict to exist, since workers were supposed to stand against the imperialists, and not against compatriot capital. ⁴⁷ However, despite these ideological barriers to class-based action, workers and their leaders often interpreted nationalist discourse in a radical way that supported workers' rights.⁴⁸

However, this political stability was interrupted as soon as the weaknesses of the state's economic policies began to appear. After 1965, there were signs of worker unrest as the ISI strategy began to feel the effects of deep structural problems. The regime's goals of expanding production and consumption simultaneously could not be reconciled. Egypt's industries were unable to compete in the world market and attract the foreign currency needed to finance the importing of capital goods needed for continued industrial expansion. As a result, the foreign trade deficit rose to fill the gap between limited domestic resources and expanding domestic consumption.

In an attempt to slow down Egypt's growing foreign debts, obligatory salary deductions for the purpose of a savings plan were introduced for all public employees. Several factories were closed and some prices and taxes were increased. A number of strikes erupted at the end of 1966 in response to deteriorating economic conditions, and there were cases of workers evading

⁴⁵ Anouar Abdel-Malek, Egypte: Société Militaire (Paris: Editions du Seuil, 1962), pp. 318.

[&]quot; Beinin, op. cit., pp. 86.

^{**} Ibid., pp. 87.

¹⁸ Ibid., pp. 83.

⁴⁹ Clawson, op. cit., pp. 106-07.

⁵⁰ Cooper, op. cit., Ch. 4 (copy not paginated).

⁵¹ Waterbury, op. cit., pp. 93-97, 409.

disciplinary measures, slowing down work, and even breaking machines—all considered serious infractions. 52

Following the 1967 defeat, living standards fell further. The workweek was increased from 42 to 48 hours without compensation, forced savings were increased, and paid holidays were cancelled in some plants, all in the name of sacrifice for the 'battle'.55 Real wages fell in 1967 to below their pre-war levels.54 Then, in February 1968, following the trial in which the military generals were found responsible for the 1967 defeat, a wave of protests broke out among workers and students, beginning with the Helwan workers' demonstrations. Although the protests were directed against the 'show' trials of the generals.55 they illustrated a much deeper rejection of the regime and its policies. The economic bankruptcy of the ISI strategy also meant the political bankruptcy of Nasser's 'Arab socialism'. The legitimacy of the regime had been built upon the production and distribution capabilities of the state. Once these abilities came into question, the whole basis of the regime came to be questioned by society.56 The great losses suffered by the Arab 'socialist' countries at the hands of Israel in 1967 only served to further discredit the regime in the eyes of its citizens.

Following the protests of February 1968, there were moves to reform the public sector, and to introduce 'scientific and economic management'. These measures were seen as a turn away from the former 'populist' alliance of forces toward a more anti-populist alliance of technocrats and private capital. Despite this new political direction, in addition to Nasser's death in 1970,

Mahmoud Hussein, Class Conflict in Egypt, 1945–1970 (New York: Monthly Review Press, 1973), pp. 234–37.

[&]quot;cited in Marsha Pripstein Posusney, "Collective Action and Workers' Consciousness in Contemporary Egypt", in Zachary Lockman (ed.), Workers and the Working Classes in the Middle East (New York, SUNY Press, 1994), pp. 218–19.

[&]quot;cited in Ibid., pp. 219.

Hussein, op. cit., pp. 292-97.

Cooper, op. cit. Ch. 4.

³⁰ March 1968 Statement, cited in Ibid . Ch. 4.

[&]quot; Ibid., Ch. 4.

there was little political ability, or will, to reverse the Nasserist welfare policies and to extract the domestic resources required to solve the economic gap between income and expenditure.³⁶

1974-1989: Incorporation into the World Capitalist Economy and Exclusionary Corporatism

It was not until after the 1973 war and the simultaneous rise in oil prices, that a new economic strategy was attempted by President Anwar al-Sadat Capital inflows from the oil-exporting states and Egyptian migrant workers' remittances from the Gulf states provided Sadat with the additional funds needed to bridge the gap between the provision of a welfare state and the liberal economic policies that were needed to pull the Egyptian economy out of its stagnation. 60 The new policy of al-infitah, or the 'Open Door Policy', mainly consisted in attracting capital from the oil states of the Gulf, enticing Western investment and technology through joint ventures with Egyptian public or private enterprises, promoting exports and the private sector, and improving the productivity and competitiveness of the public sector. 61

This change in economic policy not only represented an attempt to restructure the economy but also necessitated an adjustment of political coalitions. The Egyptian regime needed to forge alliances with the West and the conservative Gulf states in order to obtain much-needed foreign exchange and direct investment. Domestically, there were attempts to politically incorporate the national private sector bourgeoisie into the decision-making process, for example, through Sadat's creation of the Egyptian-American Businessmen's Council in 1975. On the executive level, the military continued to play a

Filhid, Ch 7.

[&]quot;Richards, and Waterbury, op. cit., pp. 241.

et Ibid., pp. 241.

¹⁵ Ibid., pp. 241

Ahmad Thabit, "Taghayur tabi'at wa dawr al-dawla al-misriya fi daw' al-numuw altabi' wa siyasat sanduq al-naqd al-dawli" [Change in the nature and role of the Egyptian state in the light of subsidary development and IMF policy], in Samir Amin (ed.), Al-Mujtama' wa-l-dawla fi-l-watan al-'arabi [State and society in the Arab World] (Cairo: Maktabat Madbuli, 1996), pp. 123.

predominant role in the regime, but a class of technocrats, concerned with public sector efficiency, began to have an increasing influence over policy-making.⁶⁴

The quest for public sector efficiency and private sector promotion, came at the expense of some of the pro-labour measures introduced under Nasser. In particular, Law 43/1974 on joint ventures led to many workers being suddenly deprived of the rights that they had previously enjoyed as public sector workers, such as profit-sharing and worker representation on boards of directors. This is due to the fact that workers in public enterprises that entered into joint ventures with foreign capital automatically came under the law governing private sector companies.⁶⁷

Despite these attacks on workers' rights, there was little opposition immediately voiced against the *infitah* policy. This may have been due to the fact that many workers benefited from *infitah*, for example, through the higher wages paid in joint venture enterprises. Migration to the Gulf states provided opportunities for Egyptian workers to increase their incomes, while the shortage in skilled labour resulting from migration pushed up wages for those workers who remained in Egypt.

However, there was opposition to the growing culture of conspicuous consumption of imported consumer goods which flowed into Egypt as a result of *infitah*. The perceived growing social inequalities that had not obviously existed under Nasser led many workers to stage protests during 1975 and 1976, despite the fact that average real wages were rising. The culmination of this opposition to *infitah* came in 1977, with the eruption of mass protests on

⁺¹bid., 1996, pp. 124.

For further details of joint venture companies involving existing public enterprises and the consequences of these projects for public enterprise workers, see Marsha Pripstein Posusney, 1992, op. cit., pp. 92–98.

littd., pp. 101.

Waterbury, op. cir., pp. 431,

Joel Beinin, "Will the Real Egyptian Working Class Please Stand Up?", in Lockman (ed.), 1994, ap. cit., pp. 259-60.

Pripstein Posusney, 1992 op cit., pp. 83.

the streets, led by workers and students, in response to the removal of subsidies on bread and other essential food items. 70

Following this unrest. Sadat attempted to co-opt and control political dissent. To begin with, he offered a 'political exchange' of limited political liberalisation for political quiescence. Controlled multiparty democracy was introduced in January 1977, with the authorisation of three political parties, representing the three different 'platforms'—left, right, and centre—from within the ASU. However, substantial restrictions were placed on the political parties, including stipulations that each party's program should differ from all other parties' programs (collectively) and that political parties should not challenge any of the articles of the constitution.

The trade union leadership opposed the introduction of multiparty democracy, arguing that it would lead to national disunity. The unions saw their position being eroded due to the fact that they were prevented from establishing a party to represent the interests of labour. Although, in theory, the new political parties offered an opportunity for workers to express their demands, the new multiparty democracy actually resulted in the continuation of the strong clientelistic ties between the state and the trade unions through the party of the regime—the National Democratic Party (NDP).

With regard to labour, the political liberalisation was illusory. Sadat introduced legislation that aimed at reinforcing the state's political control over the unions in an attempt to rein in the militant sections of the working class and promote the regime's new development strategy. Law 35/1976 further increased the powers of the GFETU and the minister of labour over the activities, finances, and formation of trade unions, to the extent of determining

18

⁵⁴ Beinin, 1994, op. cit., pp. 251-52.

⁵ Ayubi, 1995, op. cit., pp. 220.

Nazih Ayubi, "Government and the State in Egypt Today", Charles Tripp and Roger Owen (eds.), Egypt Under Mubarak (London: Routledge, 1989), pp. 15.

[&]quot; -Adli, 1993, op. cit. pp. 220-24.

[&]quot; Ibid., pp. 315-16.

[&]quot; Ihid., pp. 343-44.

union statutes and preventing the formation of new unions. Trade unions were given the responsibility of raising the efficiency and technical competence of workers and mobilising the energy of workers toward the achievement of state development plans. The law further incorporated national trade union leaders into the state bureaucracy by granting them the right to participate in the discussion of all legislation regarding social and economic development, in addition to extending the electoral term of union officials from two to three years. To

Even the limited political opening became unacceptable to Sadat following his much criticised visit to Jerusalem in 1977. Sadat attempted to quash all political dissent with the issuing of Law 33/1978, the Law on the Protection of the Internal Front and Social Peace, followed by Law 95/1980, the Law on the Protection of Morals from Shame. The two laws introduced new offences, such as harming 'national integration', 'social peace', or 'religious and community values'." A 'Socialist Public Prosecutor' (SPP) was responsible for taking the necessary procedures to guarantee that these laws were enforced.78 As a result of Law 33/1978, many candidates were disqualified from the trade union elections of 1979. However, they were able to appeal to the administrative courts, which overturned the SPP's decision. Subsequent to this, the candidates were allowed to stand in the elections and some of them won.79 Some trade union leaders attempted to introduce a bill in 1983 to abolish the SPP's powers over the trade unions, but were unsuccessful.80 Without doubt, these two laws led to much self-censorship on part of the trade unionists, in addition to providing ample ammunition for the regime against its opponents.

The political situation continued to deteriorate, and yet another law which centralised trade union powers was passed (Law 1/1981). The electoral office for trade unionists was increased further from three to four years. The GFETU

^{**} Ibid., pp. 151-53.

Ayubi, 1989, op. cit., pp. 4.

¹⁴ Adli, 1993, op. cit. pp. 306.

¹⁹ Ibid., pp. 306-07.

^{**}Ibid., 1993, pp. 308-10. The post of SPP was finally abolished by Presidential Decree no. 221/1994.

was granted the right to issue executive decrees and regulations regarding trade unions, and union committees were prevented from signing any collective agreement without the permission of the national union.⁸¹

The extent of opposition to Sadat's increasingly undemocratic measures was most dramatically illustrated by his assassination in 1981. His successor, President Hosni Mubarak, inherited not only the problems of Sadat's political liberalisation experiment, but also the economic problems of the *infitah* policy. The liberalisation of imports had exacerbated Egypt's balance of trade deficit. As a result, the foreign exchange gap continued to grow and, along with it, foreign indebtedness. External debt rose from approximately \$3 billion in 1974 to \$24 billion in 1985. Deteriorating economic conditions and a falling standard of living provoked at least 50 strikes during 1985 and the first four months of 1986, and 153 workers' protest actions during 1988 and 1989. Trade union leaders responded to these strikes by fiercely condemning them, even when workers were attacked by the security forces.

These strikes and the reactions of the trade unions to them demonstrated the extent to which the trade union leadership had become isolated from the rank-and-file through the increasing co-optation of union officials into the state bureaucracy. The top union leadership had become a self-perpetuating elite. By the mid-1980s, of the 23 general union presidents, 13 had been in office 10 years or more and four had managed to survive for at least 19 years. By the end of the 1980s, three members of the GFETU board (which includes representatives of the 22 national unions) were members of the People's Assembly, another three were members of the Majlis al-Shura, and all but one were affiliated to the NDP. Throughout the 1980s, the Mubarak government

¹¹ Ibid., 1993, pp. 154-56.

¹³ Richards, and Waterbury, op. cit., pp. 242.

[&]quot;cited in Beinin, 1994, op cit. pp. 262.

Hassan Badawi, "al-Taharukat al-jama'iya li-l-'ummal, 1988–1991" [Collective Labour Movement in Egypt, 1988-1991], Kamal 'Abbas et al (eds.), al-Haraka al-ummaliya fi ma'arakat al-tuhawwul (Cairo: Arab Research Center, 1994), pp. 48.

[&]quot; See El Shafei, op. cit., pp. 22-36.

[&]quot;Bianchi, 1989, op. cit. pp. 141.

[&]quot; Ibid_ pp. 129.

sought the co-operation of trade union leaders in the implementation of unpopular measures, such as public sector reform (including a hiring freeze in public enterprises and management autonomy in setting bonuses and incentives) and the reduction in consumer goods subsidies (from 13 percent in the mid-1980s to 6 percent in 1988). As a result, the national union leadership began to find itself increasingly in the contradictory role of representing the government while simultaneously appearing to represent the union movement. 19

BO OF

³⁸ Ibid., pp. 138; Heba Handoussa, "Crisis and Challenge: Prospects for the 1990s", in Handoussa and Potter (eds.), op. cit., pp. 11, 14.

[&]quot; Bianchi, 1989, op. cit., pp. 139,

PART TWO THE CORPORATIST STATE AND ECONOMIC LIBERALISATION

Many authors trace the beginnings of economic liberalisation to the Open Door Policy, or infitah. However, the emphasis during this period was on opening up the Egyptian economy to the world market in order to attract capital to solve domestic economic problems rather than restructuring the domestic economy in order to solve the problems at the expense of the Egyptian population. Then, by the mid-1980s it seemed that the Egyptian government could no longer delay the restructuring of its deteriorating economy. This period witnessed a massive drop in oil prices, costing Egypt 11 percent of GDP.90 The Egyptian government was forced to turn to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) as a means of curing its crippling debts. In May 1986, the government agreed to a structural adjustment and stabilisation package, which included the reduction of public expenditure, unification of the exchange rate, increase in interest rates, liberalisation of pricing policies, and granting of more autonomy to the public sector. 91 But implementation of the reform measures was slow due to the government's apprehension over the political risks of radical restructuring.92

It was the Gulf War that marked the turning point for Egypt's economic liberalisation process. This was due to two factors. On the one hand, the war exacerbated Egypt's already mounting financial and economic problems. Growth had turned negative in the late 1980s; by 1990, the country had

Heba Handoussa, "Crisis and Challenge: Prospects for the 1990s", in Handoussa and Potter (eds.), op. cu., pp. 4

[&]quot; Ibid., pp. 10-15.

[®] Ayubi, 1995, op. cit. pp. 346.

amassed international debts of nearly \$50 billion, and its debt/GNP ratio was approximately 150 percent. Real wages of unskilled workers had fallen by 40 percent in four years, while civil servants earned only about half of their 1973 salaries. Government health, transportation, and educational services had deteriorated enormously. The return of 397,000 workers from Kuwait and Iraq not only represented huge losses in workers' remittances, that also added to the burden of growing open unemployment in the country, which had roughly doubled during the decade.

On the other hand, Egypt's participation in the Allied Coalition led to an influx of aid from the USA and the Gulf countries, including a reduction of \$20 billion of debt. The debt relief in particular made it easier for the political elite to accept the IMF conditions and to present them to the Egyptian public. In May 1991, the government signed a new structural adjustment package with the IMF in return for continued debt relief by the Paris Club countries. The package committed the government to the aforementioned reform measures, in addition to the divestiture of state-owned enterprises.

The new direction in economic policy has led to some restructuring of the socio-economic relations in society. New laws have been passed that shifted relations in favour of the private sector and private property at the expense of non-property-owners. This constitutes a substantial reversal of the policies of the Nasserist period. The major pieces of legislation that have gained the most attention include Law 96/1992 liberalising agricultural rents from their administratively set levels, and Law 4/1996 which amended the relations

⁷¹ Ibid., pp. 225.

[&]quot;The exact figure for remittances is difficult to ascertain given that most of this money does not go through official channels. See Ministry of Manpower & Training, UN Population Fund, International Labour Organization, Survey of Returning Labor from Kuwait & Iraq as a Result of the Gulf Crisis (Cairo: Ministry of Manpower & Training, 1992), pp. 21.

Alan Richards, and John Waterbury. A Political Economy of the Middle East (Boulder Colorado: Westview Press, 1996, second edition), pp. 225.

[&]quot; Ibid. pp. 227.

World Bank, "Egypt: Financial Policy for Adjustment and Growth", vol. 1, (Cairo: World Bank, Egypt, 1993), pp. xxiv.

between new tenants and landlords in the field of housing, abolishing rent controls and the rights of tenants not to be evicted. Government economic policies during this period have also tended to negatively affect the standard of living of those on fixed and low incomes. Public expenditure was reduced, resulting in a cut in the deficit from over 20 percent of GDP before the Gulf War to 4.7 percent in 1992/93. By 1993/94, the overall budgetary deficit was only 2 percent of GDP. This massive cut has mainly been achieved by reducing subsidies on goods and services, and introducing a regressive sales tax. Between 1986 and 1996 prices rose fivefold. As a result, the average real wage fell during this period by 10 percent.

The most important part of the government's economic liberalisation program, and the one that has received the most attention, by both those for and against, has been privatisation. However, until recently, the rate of state divestiture has been slow. By July 1997, only 35 of the original 314 companies making up the public enterprise sector had come under private sector control, all in the fields of light industry and services, such as, flour mills, textiles, construction, pesticides, cement, food and beverages, hotels, and electronics. The government has repeatedly failed to keep to its privatisation schedule, as agreed with the IMF. For example, government officials announced in February 1996 a list of more than 100 companies which would sell their shares that year, including companies considered 'strategic', such as, shipping agencies and the Egypt Aluminium Company. However, by August 1997, only 73 had actually sold any shares to the private sector, and the shipping agencies

[&]quot;Richards, and Waterbury. 1996; op. cit., pp. 227.

^{**} Hans Löfgren, "Egypt's Program for Stabilization and Structural Adjustment: An Assessment", in The Economics and Politics of Structural Adjustment in Egypt, Third Annual Symposium, Cairo Papers in Social Science, volume 16, monograph 3, Fall 1993, pp. 22.

Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, "Ta'thir siyasat al-takayuf al-haykali "Ala al-Awda" al-ijtima'iya wa-l-iqtisadiya li-l-'ummal wa fuqara' al-hadar' [The effect of the policy of structural adaptation on the social and economic conditions of the workers and urban poor]. (Cairo: CTUWS, 1997), pp. 1.

¹⁰¹ Ibid., pp. 1.

¹⁰² Information from the Public Enterprise Office, Ministry of the Public Enterprise Sector, June 1997.

and aluminium company were not among them. ¹⁰³ The majority of divestiture that has taken place comprises share offerings on the stock market of minority stakes in companies (see Appendix Table 1). This type of 'privatisation' does not involve the state relinquishing its control over management, in addition to ensuring the diffusion of economic power over a large number of shareholders.

Due to the slow rate of state divestiture, the number of workers directly affected by privatisation, that is whose companies have come under the control of the private sector, still remains a minority of the work force at 42,220. 104 Far more workers— a total of 357,531 105—have been affected by restructuring, which is being undertaken in 240 companies. 106

The government's reluctance to accelerate the rate of state divestiture is indicative of the limits on the corporatist state in policy-making. In the past, the state's corporatist structures allowed it greater political autonomy from society. The state was responsible toward its citizens in the realm of distribution and welfare, but not in the realm of politics. As long as the state continued to grow and was able to provide goods and services for its citizens, there was little political opposition to the state's rule. Any opposition that did exist, such as the communists and the Islamists, was stamped out by the state's effective security apparatus, or was co-opted through the offering of various privileges and benefits, as was the case with the non-communist trade union leadership. These features of the corporatist state led many observers to label it a 'strong state'. However, as Nazih Ayubi has rightly pointed out, these apparent strengths were in fact symptoms of weakness. Corporatism and patronage actually reduce state autonomy by burdening the regime with economic responsibilities.

Compare information released by the Public Enterprise Office over this period.

Figures from the Public Enterprise Office, Ministry of the Public Enterprise Sector, September 1997.

⁻ Ibid

Egyptian Gazette, 30 July 1997.

See Ayubi, 1995, op. ett., Ch. 12

With the onset of privatisation and economic liberalisation, the regime is increasingly unable to meet its financial responsibilities to its citizens without incurring the wrath of its creditors. As a result, the government has been forced to redefine the relationship between the state and its citizens, as noted above. The government has been particularly careful to minimise the risk of provoking widespread opposition among public sector workers, whose political quiescence is a prerequisite to the future success of economic liberalisation. There are a number of measures that the government has taken since 1991 in order to achieve this end.

The Government and Public Sector Managers

The most important law redefining relations between the government and public sector managers is Law 203/1991 on the public enterprise sector. This law groups together the 314 public enterprises into 17 holding companies, each one representing a different economic sector, for example, metallurgical industries, chemical industries, spinning and weaving, etc. The holding companies have replaced the former public sector authorities which were affiliated to the relevant ministries. The law gives public enterprises substantial autonomy from the state bureaucracy. Companies are no longer obliged to transfer to the state any of the previous disbursements for management, social insurance, welfare, etc. 100 Decisions on production and marketing are made by the directors of the holding and affiliated companies.110 The law also puts public enterprises on a similar footing to private sector companies for the first time ever. Companies borrow from banks on commercial bases and are not able to rely on the state budgets for subsidies. Therefore, they must make profits or risk being liquidated, something which was unheard of before 1991.111 Companies are responsible to their

Article 2, Law 203/1991. Translation by Middle East Library for Economic Services, Cairo, 1991.

¹⁰⁰ Ayubi, 1995, op. cit., pp. 349.

⁽in Article 6, Chapter 1, Section 2, Law 203/1991.

Article 38, Chapter 3, Section 1, Law 203/1991 authorises the liquidation of companies with the approval of the company extraordinary general assembly. Previously, there were cases of public enterprises being bankrupt in practice, but unable to be legally declared as such. For example, General Batteries Company stopped functioning in 1992 but was still paying 1,100 employees until 1997. Sec

shareholders, with profits being distributed equally among private and public shareholders. In terms of labour regulations, affiliated companies have the powers to determine wages, salary increases, allowances, and leave policies (which were previously decided by the government).

The holding companies have the responsibility to undertake the necessary procedures to sell or lease an affiliate to the private sector. Part of the reason for the slow rate of privatisation may be attributed to the hesitancy of the holding companies in taking the initiative to sell. Some holding company executives are not willing to sell themselves out of their positions, while others do not wish to take the responsibility for decision-making. In practice, the government still maintains a strong influence over the actions of public sector companies due to the fact that it is still the major shareholder in the majority of public enterprises. The Central Auditing Agency (the state auditor) must audit the accounts of any company in which the state has a stake.

Nevertheless, the government is careful to make it appear like the public sector is no longer within its sphere of responsibility in order to distance itself from the measures taken by public sector managers to restructure their companies in preparation for privatisation. These measures are not popular with the public sector work force, given that they involve "undertak[ing] all actions required to rectify financial structures and improve unsuccessful companies, and to enhance their profitability and rationalise costs." This is usually translated as laying off workers, reducing incentives and bonuses, and withdrawing company services, such as free transportation to and from work.

International Business & Technical Consultants, Inc. IBTCI Quarterly Review Jan-Mar 1997 (Cairo: IBTCI, 1997), pp. 4.

¹¹¹ Ayubi, 1995, op. cit., pp. 349.

¹¹¹ Article 42, Chapter 3, Section 3, Law 203/1991.

¹⁴ Article 2, Chapter 1, Section 1, Law 203/1991.

Mahmoud Mohieldin, Sahar Nasr, "Privatization in Egypt with Reference to the Experience of the Czech Republic and Mexico", paper given at a conference on, The Privatization Debate in the Egyptian Parliament, 22–25 November 1995, Alexandria, pp. 23.

¹¹⁰ Article 35, Chapter 2, Section 5, Law 203/1991.

¹¹⁷ Article 6, Chapter 1, Section 2, Law 203/1991.

In cases where disputes arise between management and workers over restructuring measures, the government often presents itself as a mediator, and sometimes seems to support the workers against their management. For example, 7,000 workers in a Kafr al-Dawwar spinning factory staged a sit-in on 30 September 1994 over management measures to reduce bonuses, refuse to pay overdue overtime pay, dismiss 2,000 workers on temporary contracts, and transfer 70 workers to other branches. The protest was also against the company union, which had supported these measures and refused to relay the workers' complaints to the company management. The workers called for the removal of the union officials, in addition to the company director. To begin with, the government responded by sending security forces to put down the protest. The result was the death of four civilians, including a 10-year old boy, and the wounding of dozens of others.

Following the violent clashes between workers and the security forces, the government then took a conciliatory position toward the workers. Atel Ebeid, the minister of public enterprise, formed a committee to look at the workers' demands. As a result, the government asked management to reinstate those who were dismissed and to cancel the reduction in incentives. Furthermore, the chair of the company was forced to resign (although, he returned to his post within one month). However, workers' demands to replace the company union officials were not met. This incident demonstrates how the government has reduced its financial responsibilities to the public sector, and to public sector workers, while still exerting considerable influence and control over the actions of both public sector managers and their employees.

28

Press release by the Egyptian Organization for Human Rights, 6 October 1997; Joe Stork, "Egypt's Factory Privatisation Campaign Turns Deadly", Middle East Report vol. 25, no. 1, Jan-Feb 1995; "Adli, 1997, op. cit., pp. 6–7.

Al-Ahram Center for Political and Strategic Studies (ACPSS), al-Toqrir al-istratifi 1994 [Strategic Report 1994] (Cairo: ACPSS, 1995), pp. 429.

¹⁰ Al-Ahram, 18 October 1994.

⁽²⁾ ACPSS, op. cit., pp. 429.

The Government and Public Sector Workers

The government has been devolving its obligations toward the public sector work force in terms of providing employment. In fiscal year 1991/92, the public sector employed 1,330,000 workers in public enterprises alone, 122 of which 30 percent were considered surplus to labour requirements. 123 By 1997, the size of the public enterprise work force had been reduced to 908,267. 124 Rather than laying off workers indiscriminately (although there are cases of such practices), 125 the government has devised an attractive compensation package in collaboration with the Social Fund for Development (established by the IMF and the United Nations Development Program). 126 The scheme aims at encouraging workers aged 50 to 58 for men, and 45 to 58 for women to take early retirement in return for compensation of between LE12,000 to LE35,000 according to the length of service, incentives, and other benefits due to the worker. 127 The first phase of the early retirement scheme (ERS), which began in September 1997, consisted of offering compensation to 20,100 workers in 20 loss-making companies. The second phase was to be

The total figure for public sector employment, including economic authorities, public enterprise sector, and central and local government, was 5,547. Ali Soliman, "Economic Reform and Privatisation in Egypt", Kurasat Istratijiya, 1996. pp. 29.

Although there are no precise estimates of labour redundancy in public enterprises, this is the figure which is regularly used based on pilot studies and expert opinion, according to Ragui Assaad, "An Analysis of Compensation Programs for Redundant Workers in Egyptian Public Enterprise", Working Paper 9701 (Cairo: Economic Research Forum for the Arab Countries, Iran, and Turkey, June 1996), pp. 7.

¹²⁴ Public Enterprise Office, Ministry of the Public Enterprise Sector, September 1997

¹²⁵ See Ch. 3 here on the judiciary for examples of arbitrary dismissal.

The SFD is financing 30% of the costs of the early retirement scheme.

See Al-Wafd, 13 February 1997; Al-Siyasi al-masri, 23 February 1997; Al-Wafd, 29 March 1997. Early retirement was implemented before the ERS was officially devised. According to Public Enterprise Office figures, 31,080 workers took early retirement under the previous regulations. However, it is not clear whether workers who left their jobs before the ERS will be entitled to the same benefits as those leaving under the current regulations.

implemented in 25 companies. ¹²⁸ In one of these companies, the National Metal Industries Company, 85 percent of those eligible for the ERS, representing 22 percent of the work force, applied for early retirement. ¹²⁹ The minister of public enterprise told *Al-Ahram* that almost 80,000 public enterprise workers had applied to take early retirement. ¹³⁰

The government hopes that many workers taking early retirement will use their compensation as start-up capital in small enterprises, which will in turn help job creation for an economy which has half a million new entrants to the job market annually. The SFD, in conjunction with the government, is running a program to help train people in entrepreneurial skills and to give them access to credit in order to start up small enterprises. In this way, the government is attempting to encourage its citizens to take responsibility for employment in return for monetary incentives. The government is able to offer these incentives, despite its difficult fiscal situation, due to the fact that international creditors are happy to provide short-term grants in order to prevent the social destabilisation often alluded to by the government as a way of justifying the slow rate of implementation of structural adjustment measures.

30

¹³⁸ Al-Wafd, 23 August 1997. It is estimated that there are 100 loss-making companies: see Al-Ahrar, 12 August 1997.

At the time of writing, there was no official information released on which companies would be implementing the ERS. However, Al-'Alam al-Yawm reported on 31 August 1997 that workers in four contracting companies would be offered the ERS; the same newspaper reported on 20 August 1997 that 600 workers in BiscoMisr (a food company) had already applied to the ERS, and this opportunity would also be available for workers in four other food companies; Al-Ahram reported on 18 August 1997 that 2,883 workers in 13 chemical companies would be invited to apply for the ERS.

¹⁹ Al-Ahram, 5 September 1997.

⁽¹⁾ Al-Ahram, 4 January 1997.

¹¹² Al-Wafd, 9 July 1996; Al-Ahram al-Iquisadi, 8 September 1997.

The Social Fund for Development received \$672.5 million from international donors in 1995 alone. See Social Fund for Development, Annual Report 1995 (SFD: Cairo, 1996, pp. 36).

In the long term, the government is attempting to reduce its responsibilities toward job security by the introduction of new labour legislation, which will put public sector workers on a equal footing with private sector workers. A new draft labour law allows employers, for the first time since the 1952 Revolution, to dismiss workers where the company is making losses. Other gains of the Nasserist period will also be repealed, such as the appeal against unfair dismissal, and a possible withdrawal of benefits such as incentives and bonuses, holiday entitlement, and maternity leave for women. In return, the right to strike will be granted (but in such a limited way as to make it practically illegal). The delay in the presentation of this bill to parliament indicates the government's fear of provoking opposition. Already, the GFETU

Article 198 of the draft labour law. Furthermore, workers will not be entitled to compensation if they are dismissed in such circumstances. Muhammad al-Ghamri, "Mulahazat naqdiya 'ala mashru'a qanun al-'amal al-muwahad al-jadid" [Critical Remarks on the new unified draft labour law], background paper (Cairo: Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, May 1996), pp. 11.

Currently, a tripartite committee hears a dismissal case, and has the authority to force a company to reinstate a worker deemed unfairly dismissed. Articles 71 and 72 of the draft labour law creates a new five-member committee which will only be authorized to set the level of compensation for an unfairly dismissed worker, and will not be able to force his/her reinstatement. Ibid., pp. 12–13.

The draft labour law repeals the articles of Law 48/1978 on the provision of incentives, bonuses, travel allowances, danger allowances, transfer costs, and other benefits, currently decided by the company management and company union. *Ibid*. pp. 15.

Article 47 of the draft labour law reduces the number of holiday days for workers over 50 years from 45 to 30 days. *Ibid.*, pp. 14.

Article 91 of the draft labour law reduces the right of women to take maternity leave from three times to twice during her period of service. *Ibid.*, pp. 20.

Article 194 of the draft labour law grants workers the right to strike in defence of their professional, economic, and social interests (not their political interests), on the condition that the strike is approved by one third of the general assembly of the national trade union. In view of past reactions of national trade unionists against strikes and worker protests (see Ch. 3), this article will in practice make many strikes illegal. Article 195 prevents strikes taking place during arbitration or negotiations between the two parties, and prohibits strikes in 'essential' public services, *Ibid.*, pp. 15–16.

has expressed its reservations over the end of government guarantees for workers' job security and the limitations on the right to strike, 140 but most workers have yet to respond—no doubt due to the fact that the law has yet to be implemented. The fact that one government statement announced the delay of the reading of the bill until after the privatisation program is completed 141 may suggest that the government is banking on the success of economic liberalisation in creating employment and increasing wages as a means of compensating workers for a withdrawal of previous labour rights.

The Government and the Trade Unions

The current trade union structure plays a very limited role in defending workers' rights. The top of the trade union hierarchy are state bureaucrats rather than elected representatives of Egyptian workers. The function of the union is one of distributing state-subsidised goods and services (such as food, health insurance, housing, and social facilities) and helping to implement government directives on the work force. Despite this, the government is still wary about the role that trade unions could play in organising opposition to privatisation, given that many trade union leaders feel threatened by the withdrawal of state power in the economic sphere. This is due to the fact that the large majority trade union members are in the public sector—75 percent of approximately 3.313 million members. and trade union membership fees are often taken directly out of public sector workers' wages. Therefore, a reduction in the number of public sector workers, is the equivalent to a reduction in the power base of the trade unions.

¹⁴ Al-Wafd, 8 January 1997, Al-Wafd, 18 June 1996.

¹¹¹ Al-Wafd, 18 June 1996.

¹³⁷ See Ch. 3 for further discussion of the trade union officials' attitude to privatisation.

Sabr Barakat, "Mustaqbal al-haraka al-'ummaliya fi misr", in 'Abbas et al, eds. op. cit., pp. 280. This figure was probably much less by 1997 due to the large reduction in the public enterprise work force.

Ibrahim Awad, "Socio-political aspects of economic reform: A Study of Domestic Actors' Attitudes towards Adjustment Policies in Egypt", in Handoussa and Potter, (eds), op. cit., pp. 278.

The government is implementing a dual strategy to prevent trade unions from becoming a vehicle for workers' grievances against privatisation. The first part of this strategy aims at directing public sector workers' attentions away from trade unions and the issue of privatisation by creating an alternative site of (limited) power for workers. This is taking the form of the employee shareholder associations (ESA). The concept of an ESA was created by Law 95/1992.145 Workers have the opportunity to buy a maximum of 10 percent of company equity through an ESA at a 20 percent discount on the market rate. The ESA pays for the shares through interest-free instalments which are deducted from the share dividends.146 The shares are the property of the ESA (once they are paid off) and not the individual workers. The ESA distributes the dividends to its members. 147 These associations now exist in 264 companies in Egypt. 48 Workers in 47 companies currently own shares, 49 including ten public works and land reclamation companies where the government has allowed workers to buy 95 percent of equity for a total of LE245 million, 150 and four land reclamation and agricultural companies where workers are majority shareholders, bringing the number of workershareholders in this sector to 15,000.151 There are plans to allow further worker buy-outs in other sectors. 152

¹¹¹ Article 74, Part VIII, Law 95/1992. Translation by MELES, 1993.

¹⁴⁰ Al-Ahali, 6 August 1997.

Partnership in Development Project, "Employee Stock Ownership Plan Manual", (Cairo: PIDP, June 1995), Ch. 9, (no pagination on copy).

Public Enterprise Office, Ministry of the Public Enterprise Sector, September 1997. By January 1996, 21 ESAs had bought LE700 million worth of shares: see Al-'Alam al-Yawm, 9 January 1997.

¹⁰ Al-Ahram al-Igusadi, 16 June 1997.

List published by Public Enterprise Office, Ministry of the Public Enterprise Sector, June 1997.

¹³¹ Al-Ahram, 18 August 1997. Total figures for worker-shareholders in all sectors are currently not available.

¹⁵² These include rice mills: see Al-'Alam al-Yawm, 28 August 1997; transport companies: see Al-Wafd, 22 January 1997; Nasr Castings Company: see Al-'Alam al-Yawm, 1 May 1997.

The ESA concept allows the continuation of worker representation on company boards and worker profit-sharing, but under the names of shareholder voting rights and annual dividends. Redefining workers as shareholders appears to put them on an equal footing with management (who are majority shareholders) and would therefore seem to erase the antagonistic relationship of workers versus capital. Therefore, the concept of trade unions as the supposed representatives of workers is made redundant, since workers have become shareholders, and therefore occupy a different position in relation to the means of production. The ESA concept has a further advantage: it allows workers to buy those companies which are unattractive to private investors, such as the land reclamation companies, whose poor performance led to their inability to cover production costs. [5]

The second part of the strategy consists of controlling the membership of the trade union boards to prevent any political opposition from gaining power. In the last elections of October 1996, as many as 104 workers were prevented from running many of them left wing or Islamist many while 175 workers took a number of national unions and the minister of labour to court for various election irregularities. Moreover, the government is seeking to prevent new blood from entering the highest ranks of the trade union by keeping long-standing and government-loyal trade unionists in their positions as long as possible. Article 23, Law 12/1995 allows trade union officials who are due for retirement to keep their positions on union boards on the condition that they remain employed in the same sector as the trade union. Through the signing of fake work contracts, it is possible for trade union officials above retirement age to monopolise the trade union boards. Indeed, following the

34

The transport and rice mill companies mentioned above are loss-making companies, while Nasr Castings has already participated in a debt-equity swap deal. See Al-Ahram Hebdo, 16–22 July 1997; Al-Ahram, 3 August 1997.

This is the number recorded by the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, in "Aliyat istaba'd al-murshahin fi intakhabat al-"ummaliya", Al-Musa ada, November 1996.

¹¹⁵ See al-Sha'b, 28 September 1996; al-Hayat, 25 October 1996.

Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, "Activity Report 1996" (Cairo: CHRLA, 1997), pp. 18.

elections of 1996, those of retirement age head 12 of the 23 national unions. 157

Article 36 of the law allows any trade union official to continue to hold office after they have been appointed to a managerial position within their work place. 158 This would seem to create a contradictory situation between the interests of the workers and the interests of management. However, candidates in managerial posts present themselves to workers as candidates that are able to solve workers' problems through their access to the corridors of power. 159

As a result of the government's measures to prevent change in the trade union leadership during the last elections, there was no turnover in the membership of the GFETU board and only a 40 percent change in the members of the boards of the national unions. 160

The Government and Private Sector Businesspeople

The government has also been further reducing the influence of trade unions on government decision-making by forging an alliance with private sector businesspeople. This private sector is best represented by the Egyptian Businessmen's Association (EBA), a group of entrepreneurs who have gradually gained an increasing voice in the decision-making process of government. A joint committee on economic policies was formed between the government and the EBA, and the association has played a large part in influencing government policies on taxation and import and export measures. [6]

According to one study, the government is seeking to gain the support of the EBA as a means of carrying out economic reform successfully. Simultaneously, the EBA has been attempting to increase its influence over government policy by nominating businessmen affiliated to the ruling National Democratic Party to its membership, and then putting forward these members

¹⁵⁷ Kamal 'Abbas, Sabr Barakat, Rahma Rif'at, "Intikhabat fi muftaraq al-turuq" [Elections at the cross-roads], (Cairo: Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997), pp. 4.

¹st Ibid., pp. 4

¹⁵⁴ Ibid., pp. 10-11

¹⁴ Al-Wafd, 18 October 1996.

in Thabit, op. cit., pp. 125-26.

for election to the People's Assembly. In Alexandria, eight NDP-affiliated EBA members won seats in the PA during the last elections in 1995. 162 This illustrates the way in which interest groups in Egypt have always felt it necessary to 'colonise' the state, through its ruling party, as a means of influencing government policy. It also shows the potential for a gradual change in the identity of the NDP, from a party of technocrats, to a party of business.

80 CB

na Al-'Arabi, 27 January 1997.

PART THREE FORMAL RESPONSES TO ECONOMIC LIBERALISATION

The nature of workers responses to government economic policies not only decides the success of those policies but also the future stability of the regime. The demonstrations of 1977 weakened the political stance of President Sadat's regime to the extent that he felt obliged to introduce some of the most antidemocratic measures that Egypt has ever seen. As noted in the previous chapter, the present government is being very careful to prevent any widespread worker opposition to privatisation.

This part considers the formal responses by public sector workers to privatisation and economic liberalisation. The term 'formal responses' refers to those responses which occur via the institutions created by the regime such as, the trade unions, judiciary, multiparty system, and, since the beginning of privatisation, the employee shareholder associations. These institutions were not created with the purpose of allowing dissent to government policies, but rather as a mechanism for the regime to co-opt any opposition and channel it in a way that does not threaten the legitimacy of the regime. However, the fact that these responses are directed by state-sanctioned mechanisms does not necessarily negate their ability to allow workers to express their opposition, although workers may find it more useful to resort to more 'informal' methods to protect their interests (see Part Four).

In addition to the above institutions, workers may also respond in more individualized ways to the change in economic and political conditions by using government policies as a means of securing their rights. The inclusion of individualised responses in this part is due to the fact that they have formal characteristics, such as being government-approved and protected by the legal system. Consequently, these methods are 'public' and 'official'—debated by

public officials, reported in the semi-official press, and recorded by official statistics.

Trade Unions

The trade union structure is the first 'line of defence' for workers, despite its history of being supportive of regime policies rather than the interests of workers. Nevertheless, there is a tradition of workers appealing to their trade unions to lobby or petition management or the government on their behalf when they have grievances. ^[63] This method has had some success in achieving workers' demands, or at least drawing officials' attention to workers' problems, ^[63] because of the close relationship between the state and the national trade unions.

Although most trade union leaders do not oppose privatisation or economic liberalisation, their public statements express concern for the economic rights of workers. 'Abd al-Latif 'Aysh, head of the Food Industries National Trade Union, says: "The Union is not opposed to full-scale privatisation, but Egyptians should have the lion's share of the shares at stake ... some problems have to be addressed, such as workers being denied their right to profit-sharing, guaranteed under Public Enterprise Law no. 203/91." Muhammad al-Sharqawi, head of the Tourism and Hotel Workers National Trade Union, says: "Many employees at the hotels which were privatised have been laid off. There should be sufficient guarantees for workers before state property is transferred to private ownership".

Since 1990, company trade unions have tended to play a more positive role on behalf of workers' than in the past, by holding meetings with management, petitioning the relevant ministers, and even participating in workers' protests. 167 For example, in November 1990, the company trade union put

[&]quot;X Adli, 1997, op. cit., pp. 4.

For example, the case of the Elmaco workers, see Al-Wafd, 4 April 1997; and the case of Port Said Containers & Cargo workers, see Al-Ahali, 28 August 1996.

¹⁰ The Egyptian Gazette, 10 March 1996

in Ibid.

¹⁶² Adli, 1997, op. cit., pp. 8

forward its collective resignation after the management of Mahalla Carpets failed to meet the demands of workers to raise salaries and pay outstanding bonuses. In 1993, the trade union actually participated in a workers' protest in Tanta Tobacco. In June 1994, the company trade union of the mines and quarries organised a workers' strike—the first strike organised by a trade union since 1952—in protest at the cut in government subsidies for the industry, resulting in a loss of incentives and benefits for workers. ¹⁶⁸

These more radical stances by trade union leaders probably reflect their own insecurities about privatisation, more than a desire to defend the rights of their members. No doubt some trade union officials perceive the government's growing alliance with businesspeople as a threat to their positions. This is particularly pertinent to those union leaders at the lower levels of the trade union pyramid who are not members of the Peoples' Assembly or the Shura Council. The increased need to support workers' protests reflects their need to carve out a new role for themselves as representatives of workers' interests.

In the above cases, the reasons why company unions decided to support workers in what are basically illegal activities may have been determined by the trade unionists' perception of the extent of success of their intervention, due to the fact that none of these companies are currently included on a privatisation list. ¹⁶⁹ Indeed, in all three cases, the outcome was successful in favour of the workers. In the case of the Mahalla Carpets strike, the governor of al-Gharbiya governorate promised to implement the workers' demands. In the case of the Tanta Tobacco workers' protest against the dismissal of a worker there, the decision was reversed. ¹⁷⁰ In the case of the mines and quarries' strike, all the workers' demands were met following negotiations between the government and the trade union. ¹⁷¹ In the latter case, there is also a possibility that the good relations between the head of the company union and someone within the government provided the company union with a

⁼ Ibid., pp. 8.

This is according to information released by the Public Enterprise Office.

¹⁷ Adli, 1997, op Eit., appendices.

Pt ACPSS, op. cit., pp. 428-29.

safeguard against any sort of punitive actions that could have been taken against their decision to organise the strike. 172

The vast majority of trade union leaders prefer to obtain concessions for their members via their relations with the state. As mentioned before, a great number of national trade union leaders are members of one of the two legislative assemblies, and all but one are members of the ruling National Democratic Party. 71 This gives the trade unions a fair amount of access to the mechanisms of decision-making, and Al-Sayid Rashid, head of the GFETU, is regularly involved in negotiations with the government over issues relevant to workers, such as the early retirement scheme, the employee shareholder associations, and new labour legislation. Despite the close links between the unions and the state, it is not unusual for the federation president and the government to disagree over the details of new rules and regulations. For example, there were apparently long negotiations over the rules for early retirement, with Rashid calling for workers' social insurance contributions to be paid by their companies until the age of 60 in order to guarantee them full pensions. 174 Nevertheless. Rashid's interventions in the decision-making process are always firmly within the bounds of the government's agenda, and he has regularly announced his support for privatisation and his faith that the government will protect workers' rights.175

However, trade union intervention to protect the rights of workers, whether in the form of supporting workers' protests or negotiating with the government or management on behalf of workers, is always reactive. It is either in response to the government's attempts to introduce new legislation or in response to workers' petitions and demands. The trade unions have failed to propose any new legislation to defend workers' interests in the light of changing economic conditions and the withdrawal of the state from its function of guaranteeing employment. For example, workers will be left without protection in the areas

40

¹³³ This is off-the-record speculation by someone within the trade union movement.

⁽²⁾ Bianchi, op. cit., pp. 141.

¹¹ Al-Wafd, 20 February 1997

For example, see Al-Wafd, 15 March 1996; and an interview given by al-Sayid Rashid to Al-Ahram, 14 May 1996.

of social insurance and unemployment benefits, unless former legislation is amended. 176

The inertia of the unions in this matter is not surprising given that legislation since 1952 has gradually undermined the ability of the trade union structure to act proactively to defend workers' rights. To begin with, in the 1950s, independent trade union action was made illegal and legislation was introduced that regulated all aspects of working conditions for employees. thereby usurping the traditional trade union role of representing workers in negotiations between labour and employers. During the 1960s, the regime introduced various measures which improved all aspects of workers' lives, thereby making the state, rather than the trade unions, the vehicle through which workers could obtain their rights. Then through the 1970s and 1980s. trade union power became increasingly concentrated in the hands of the upper echelons, and the trade union leadership became more closely tied to the state bureaucracy (see Parts One and Two). Consequently, the role of trade unions has become limited to that of distributing government goods and services as a means of keeping the loyalty of workers to the regime and supporting government policies. This is demonstrated by the campaign programs of candidates running in the last trade union elections. Most candidates were concerned with increasing the number of ESAs, expanding social security. health insurance, and social activity funds, and improving salaries. 177 Only the few opposition candidates from the left who managed to run called for the protection of the public sector and the democratisation of the trade unions. [78]

Some workers and trade unionists argue that the present union system cannot defend workers' rights in the context of privatisation due to the state's interference in every aspect of trade union organisation—from the election of its officials to its statutes. They believe that a plurality of democratic unions would be better equipped to unite to defend workers' interests. On the other

¹⁷⁶ Interview with Ahmad Sayf al-Islam 'Abd al-Fattah, lawyer, Cairo, 8 June 1996.

¹⁷⁷ Al-Siyasi al-Masri, 29 September 1996.

in Al-Ahali, 23 October 1997.

For example, Yusif Darwish, 'Abd al-Ghafar Shakr, and Fathi Mahmud, in a seminar held on trade union pluralism by the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid. See "Ma'ziq al-niqabat al-'ummaliya wa khiyar al-ta'addudiya" [The dilemma of

hand, there are those that believe that trade union pluralism could open the way for divisive tactics by employers and the state and would not be any better at defending workers than the current single federation system. In their eyes, it is far better to call for the reform of the current trade union system and introduce democracy within the union structures in order to rid them of government interference.\(^{\text{Int}}\)

In April 1995, the Supreme Constitutional Court, while ruling that the fimitation of professional syndicate members on trade union boards was unconstitutional, discussed the importance of trade union independence and the freedom to form trade unions. (Current legislation on trade unions contains 23 articles which permit the minister of labour to intervene in trade union affairs, from drawing up the union statute and deciding a program of activity to electing trade union representatives. Furthermore, no more than one national union is allowed in any one profession. Since the question of trade union independence and plurality was only mentioned in the ruling, and was not the subject of the ruling, the government had no obligation to amend the law in line with the remarks of the judge.

Nevertheless, some left-wing activists and trade unionists believe that privatisation could make trade union pluralism an inevitability, albeit in the long term. As the state withdraws from its employment obligations toward its citizens as a result of privatisation and more and more employees join the private sector, it is probable that the current trade unions will begin to disappear (as noted in the previous part, most trade union members work in the public sector). Privatisation may also have the effect of eroding worker loyalty to the current trade union structure which has been largely based on

trade Unions and the options of pluralism], Al-Musa'ada, pp. 15-19, May 1997, for a detailed report.

on For example, Amin 'Az al-Din, and 'Abd al-Rahman Khayr, Ibid.

¹⁸¹ See the ruling of the Supreme Constitutional Court on Article 38, Law 35/1976 in al-Jarida al-rasmiya, no. 17, 27 April 1995.

^{int} Abd Allah Khalil, al-Qawanin al-muqayida li-l-huquq al-madaniya wa-l-siyasiya fi-l tashri al-misri [Law governing civil and political rights in Egyptian legislation] (Cairo: Egyptian Organization for Human Rights, 1993), pp. 187–96.

state-guaranteed job security. 183 in addition to revealing the complicity of trade union leaders in implementing government policies. 184 While privatisation may be the end for the current trade union structure, it will be necessary to replace it with some kind of organisation that is adapted to the needs of a more market-oriented economy. There must be some body in the future that is capable of negotiating with employers on behalf of workers in order to reach agreements on wages, holidays, and other work place conditions that are currently determined administratively. 185

Robert Bianchi also anticipates pluralist trends within the trade unions. However, this he attributes less to privatisation but rather to 'unruly corporatism' within the trade union structures. He notes increasing rivalry of ambitions between the different national union leaders, all of whom are eager to demonstrate their political influence. 186 However, much of that political influence is based on the existence of the public sector and the need for the government to distribute its patronage via the trade unions. A reduction in the size of the public sector will no doubt reduce the ability of national trade union leaders to influence politics. They may also find themselves compromised in the eyes of workers, who may feel that these trade union leaders have neglected their interests. Meanwhile, a parallel system of worker representation has appeared since the beginning of the 1970s to compensate for the ineffectiveness of the official trade unions in protecting workers' rights. 187 If it continues to be officially tolerated by the authorities, it is possible that this parallel representation may become the basis for trade union pluralism in the future.

Interview with Hasan Badawi, editor of labour affairs for Al-Ahali, Cairo, 13 August 1997.

¹ Interview with Adil Wiliyam, left-wing activist, Mit Ghamr, 23 May 1996

Interview with Kamal 'Abbas, head of the Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, Helwan, 16 September 1997.

Bianchi, op. ett., pp. 142.

[&]quot; Ibid., pp. 143.

The Judiciary

In recent years, the courts have become high profile arenas for battles between Egypt's major political trends, in particular 'secularists'/the state and Islamists. With regard to workers, the judiciary has represented a means of defending their legal rights for the past four decades.

The state has designed a set of legal stages for solving labour disputes which include the intervention of the judiciary. In the case of unfair dismissal, a worker can sue his/her employer in a labour tribunal. If successful, a higher court determines the amount of compensation to be paid to the plaintiff. Courts may rule on other issues concerning the legal rights of employees. In fact, many strikes are the result of court decisions ruling in favour of workers being ignored by company management. [33]

Since 1991, the number of workers filing complaints against their employers has been increasing: doubtless a result of the increase in arbitrary measures taken by companies undergoing restructuring before privatisation. The most common complaints are those of unfair dismissal. Company management has been refusing to renew temporary contracts that have expired, despite a government decree that workers on temporary contracts who have been working in a company for more than five years are entitled to the same rights as permanent contract workers. 100

For example, the case of the ESCO strike in January 1986, in El Shafei, op. cit., pp. 25

For example, the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid alone filed 334 cases on behalf of workers in 1996, in comparison to 97 in 1995. See Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, "Activity Report, 1996", (Cairo: CHRLA, 1997), for further details.

For example, 80 temporary contract workers were dismissed from BiscoMisr after their contracts were not renewed: see Al-Ahram Weekly, 11–14 April 1996; 101 workers were dismissed from the General Engineering Works Company: see Al-Ahali, 15 January 1997; about 250 workers at Bata company were dismissed for the same reason, see Al-Wafd, 26 February 1997; 54 temporary contract workers were dismissed from the National Engineering Industries Company: see Al-'Arabi, 18 August 1997; and 47 temporary contract workers were dismissed from the National Metal Industries Company: see Al-Sha'b, 19 August 1997.

Aside from workers using the courts in the way in which the government intended them to be used, some trade union leaders, in conjunction with the Nasserist, Tagammu', and Islamist-oriented Labour parties, filed a court case in 1996 in an attempt to stop privatisation. The case challenged the constitutionality of Law 203/1991 on the public enterprise sector, which allows privatisation, on the basis that Article 30 of the Constitution stipulates that the public sector plays the leading role in the development of the Egyptian economy and therefore any attempts to reduce the size and importance of the public sector is unconstitutional. Furthermore, the public sector belongs to the people and therefore it cannot be sold by the state without the people's agreement. However, the Supreme Constitutional Court rejected the claim in February 1997, ruling that Law 203 does not violate the Constitution, which allows private ownership.

Participation in Legislative Elections and Political Parties

Formal' political participation through political parties and legislative elections is probably the least widespread method that workers use to respond to economic and political developments. The court case against privatisation is symptomatic of the problems of political participation in Egypt. This problem revolves around three axes: government restriction of the activities of political parties; government manipulation of legislative elections through various means; and the predominance of a nationalist discourse among the left wing that relegates workers' concerns to the interests of the nation.

To begin with, Egyptian law restricts the formation of political parties. Of particular relevance to workers, it is illegal to form a party whose goal is to represent the interests of the working class. 194 All political parties must be licensed by a special government committee. Then, even where a political party is authorised, its activities are confined to holding meetings in party premises and publishing a party newspaper. Public rallies, canvassing, distributing propaganda in a public place, and public demonstrations are

⁴¹⁻Ahram Weekly, 11-17 April 1996.

[&]quot; Al-Sha'b, 9 April 1996.

Middle East Times, 9-15 February 1997

[&]quot;See Khalil, op. cit., pp. 227.

illegal. Given the lack of opportunities for opposition parties to effectively pressure the government into changing its policies, they (like the Islamists) have turned to the courts as the only means of legally challenging the government. Moreover, the limited margin of activity of political parties makes it very difficult for them to forge links with workers. This problem is exacerbated by the government's manipulation of elections in the favour of their own candidates.

The government manipulates the electoral process through the staging of unfair and restricted elections. 146 Its main power lies in the ability to exclude its political opponents by distributing patronage through its representatives (whether members of the legislative assemblies or of trade union boards). As a member of the People's Assembly from the ruling National Democratic Party remarks:

Only the party with authority can serve the people, and thus opposition parties in Egypt have little popular support, no roots to the people. If I ask for something from the bureaucracy, my demands will be met and theirs' [the opposition's] will not. 197

This particular PA member had made his 'roots to the people' by getting the bureaucracy to build some badly-needed housing in his constituency. ¹⁹⁸ None of the opposition parties have the resources to distribute such largesse to their prospective constituents.

Finally, the court case against privatisation demonstrates the opposition's attachment to nationalism and the legacy of Nasserism, rather than the interests of workers. The arguments put forward against privatisation by the

See a report by the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, "al-Hizb al-wahid fi qalib Ta'addudiya" [One party in a mould of pluralism], (Cairo: Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, June 1996).

See the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, "Final Report on the Legislative Elections in Egypt", (Cairo: CHRLA, 1995); and Al-Musa ada, "Aliyat al-istab ad al-murashahin fi intikhabat al-'ummaliya", pp. 4–6, November 1996, op. cit.

or cited in Singerman, op. cit., pp. 255.

¹⁹⁸ fbid., pp. 256

opposition are that the public sector should be defended because it is in the interests of the nation, and therefore it is in the interests of workers.

Ahmad Nabil al-Hilali, a human rights advocate and lawyer specializing in labour issues, and also regarded as a communist, is typical of those defending the public sector as a guarantor of workers' rights. He believes that privatisation will lead to public sector workers losing the rights granted under the public sector. Left-wing activities around the issue of workers' rights and privatisation have mainly concentrated on the establishment of a 'National Committee in Defence of the Public Sector'. In a meeting held to found the committee, most of the contributors spoke first about the dangers of privatisation in terms of the national economy, and then about the dangers to workers. However, Nasserism, and the socialist ideals associated with it, have been largely discredited by the inability of a public-sector-led economy to generate sufficient growth to meet the needs of its growing population, not to mention the state's arbitrary enforcement of its own labour regulations. This limits the appeal of the opposition, in particular the left wing, to substantial segments of workers.

The Islamists have been conspicuous in their absence from the ranks of the trade unions, in comparison to their influence among the professional syndicates. Observers attribute this to several factors. The government's control over the trade union structure through the minister of Labour and the GFETU would make it much more difficult for the Islamists to operate freely in the trade unions, unlike the profession syndicates, where Islamists have had access to substantial financial resources which they have used to promote their politics. In the cases where Islamists have put forward their candidacy in trade union elections, there are reports that the authorities have intervened to prevent them from running for office (see Part Two). This factor has probably made the trade unions less of a strategic interest for the Islamists. Moreover, the ideological attraction of the Islamists for workers is limited. Calls for an Islamisation of society may appeal to middle class feelings of exclusion from the political process and alienation from the state's development policies.

¹⁹⁵ Interview with Ahmad Nabil al-Hilali, Cairo, 15 June 1996.

Sec Al-Ahali, 20 March 1996.

⁵⁰ Interviews with "Adil Wiliyam, Ahmad Nabil al-Hilali, and Kamal "Abbas.

Nazih Ayubi, Political Islam (London: Routledge, 1991), pp. 86.

however, workers are also concerned with economic issues. That is not to say that they are not open to Islamist politics, but rather that Islamists must address workers' economic interests if they are to stand any success of winning positions on company unions. However, in previous elections, where Islamists put forward a platform that contains economic issues, their position was indistinguishable from those of candidates of other political trends.²⁰³

Given the situation described above, it is not surprising that political parties have had little success in influencing trade unions and workers. Lacking a political framework for their demands, there is little chance that current attempts by workers to defend their interests can go beyond immediate economic concerns.

The Use of Other Government-designed Measures

Given the limited efficacy and the absence of a guaranteed outcome of some of the above strategies, many workers may consider certain government measures, namely, early retirement and employee shareholder associations, as a more effective way to defend their interests in the context of privatisation. Indeed, some workers may view these measures as a new way for the government to secure the welfare of its citizens, as it has done traditionally. That is not to say that workers do not have reservations about the details of the projects. Nevertheless, the extent to which workers have taken early retirement of joined an ESA²⁰⁶ indicates that these measures are definitely among workers' repertoire of responses in the context of economic liberalisation.

It should also be noted that in the past, millions of workers migrated to the Arab oil-producing states, where wages are much higher, as a way of securing

48

Interview with Kamal Abbas.

With regard to worker reservations about early retirement, see al-Gumhuriya al-Usbu'i. 2 April 1997; and with regard to ESAs, see Al-'Alam al-Yawm, 2 November 1996, and Al-Gumhuriya, 17 May 1997.

³⁸⁸ See Ch. 2 on public sector workers for figures.

¹⁴⁶ See Ch. 2 on trade unions for figures.

a better standard of living.²⁰⁷ Many of these workers returned with enough savings to start up a small business and therefore joined the ranks of the petite bourgeoisie. With the slowdown in the economies of the oil-producers due to the fall in the price of oil since the mid-1980s, in addition to the increasing employment of labour from Asia, it is more difficult for Egyptian workers to find employment in the Gulf and Libya. However, this is still an option considered by many, especially young workers in need of large savings for their marriage.²⁰⁸

Gender and Political Responses

The term 'worker' has been used until now to denote a female or a male worker. However, it is essential to note that the strategies above are not all open to female workers. This is predominantly a result of society's hegemonic ideology which limits a woman's role to that of the private sphere. As a result, female participation rates in the work force are officially low—and have been falling over the past 15 years from 3.8 percent to 1.8 percent in the public sector.²⁰⁰

For those women who go out to work, their responses to economic liberalisation are determined by how they think they should act according to society's views on the role of women. Trade union participation, voting in elections, and migration (if unaccompanied by a male relative) all violate society's norms about women's behaviour. In the trade union elections of 1996, out of a total of 60,000 candidates, only 1000 were women (however, 621 of these managed to win seats on company union boards). In the 1995 parliamentary elections, out of a total of 3,980 candidates, only 81 women ran,

The 1990 figure for migration is approximately 2 million, i.e., 12% of the work force. See Zuhdi al-Shami, "al-Tashghril w-al-batala fi Misr" [Employment and unemployment in Egypt], (Cairo: Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997), pp. 14.

²⁰⁰ See Singerman, op vit., pp. 121-24,

Al-Ahali, 14/05/97. However, Singerman finds that women's participation in the informal economic sector is high. *Ibid.*, pp. 181–205.

Abbas, Barakat, Riffat, op. cit. pp. 7, 13.

and a mere five of these won seats.²¹¹ These figures demonstrate the extent to which beliefs about women's role in society delegitimise a public role for her.

Shareholding and early retirement schemes may also pose problems for women. A woman's ability to fully participate in an ESA by attending meetings and electing representatives is subject to the same considerations as participation in trade union activities. Early retirement may not be an attractive option for women given that they have less chance than men of finding employment in the private sector which gives them the same working conditions as in the public sector (such as, child care facilities, working hours that fit in with school times, and guaranteed holidays). Indeed, rates of women applying to take early retirement have been shown to be lower than those of men. 212

However, women do have means of responding to a loss of rights, or a fall in their standard of living. Formal response mechanisms include the judiciary. This institution has been traditionally a socially-sanctioned means of women claiming their rights. This is probably a consequence of the legalistic tradition of Islam and the rights accorded to women by Shari'a. But it is probably informal mechanisms that provide the greatest opportunity for women. This, as we shall see in the next part, is due to the fact that 'informal' politics is often based on family and community networks, and is therefore considered to be much closer to the 'private' sphere.

80 08

Hala Mustafa, ed. al-Intikhabat al-harlamanīya fi Mixr 1995 [The 1995 Egyptian parliamentary elections] (Cairo: ACPSS, 1996), pp. 96.

²¹² Al-Akhbar, 18 July 1997.

PART FOUR

INFORMAL RESPONSES TO ECONOMIC

LIBERALISATION

The term 'informal' responses here refers to those actions taken by workers that are somehow hidden from the public—that is, they are not officially recorded by state bodies or the semi-official press, or they are denied and condemned by the authorities. This is due to the fact that they are either illegal, such as strikes, sit-ins, and other demonstrations, and moonlighting, or that they are beyond the control of the authorities, such as the informal economy, and family and community networks. The inclusion of organised protests and civil organisations under this heading may seem inappropriate, since both have characteristics of formal actions, that is, they are organised in the public sphere. However, they are both largely ignored by the semi-official press, or, if acknowledged, condemned by the government. Also included in this part

For example, according to those researchers who have documented worker protests. none of the semi-official press (that is, Al-Ahram, Al-Akhbar, Akhbar al-Yawm, Al-Gumhuriva) consistently report strikes or demonstrations. These researchers are obliged to rely on the reports of the opposition press (Al-Wafd, Al-Sha'b, Al-Ahal). and Al-Ahrar). Furthermore, none of the opposition press has a circulation as high as that of the semi-official presso From this, we can deduce that many strikes are unknown to large segments of the population (except in the case of major strikes, where the semi-official press writes condemning the strike). See El Shafei, op. cit. pp. 25, 32; and Stork, op. cit. Similarly, the attitude of the government toward civil organisations which are not registered with the Ministry of Social Affairs is disparaging. For example, the Minister of Labour referred to the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, in regard to its challenge of the constitutionality of Law 35/1976 on trade unions, as having been "established in order to serve the political interests of certain parties and individuals that did not manage to win a seat on the trade union boards [in the 1996 trade union elections]". See Al-Ahram Hebdo, 3-9 September 1997

is clientelism, to which it was briefly referred in the previous part with regard to the role of patronage in elections and the trade unions. Clientelism is technically illegal, and condemned by the government in public. However, patron-client relations are promoted by the state, and represent one of the main ways in which the state maintains its hegemony over society.

In this way we see that the division between 'formal' and 'informal' responses is not straightforward, and there is little doubt that workers do not classify their actions in such a way. It is more likely that workers either regard 'informal' and 'formal' actions to be interdependent, that is one of the methods is employed after the other has failed to achieve the desired results (for example, strikes are resorted to only after trade union mediation and the judiciary have failed), or workers consider the two types of actions to be independent of each other and they employ both types of strategy simultaneously—in order to increase their chances of success.

Strikes and Other Protests

Strikes, sit-ins, demonstrations, and other protests represent the most dangerous way for workers to seek solutions to their problems and therefore protests only occur after all legal channels—negotiations with management, petitioning the government, or filing a complaint with the courts—have been attempted and have failed.²¹⁴ Strikes and other forms of collective action are illegal according to Egyptian law²¹⁵ and are usually subject to violent attack by the security forces, to the extent that people have died.²¹⁶ The government is concerned not to let strikes and other protests spread, especially in industrial

Adli. 1997, pp. 4.

However, on 16 April 1987, the Higher State Security Court ruled that striking railway workers were innocent because strikes were legal according to the international human rights treaties that Egypt had signed.

For example, during the sit-in of the Kafr al-Dawwar spinning and weaving factory workers, security forces killed four and injured many. See press release by the Egyptian Organization for Human Rights, op. cit.; and, Stork, op. cit. In the case of the steel workers' strike in July 1989, one worker died and several were severely injured after security forces stormed the steel plant. In addition, hundreds of other workers were detained for several months, and two of the strike leaders were tortured. See El Shafei, op. cit., pp. 34.

areas where there are large numbers of workers. However, once the protests have been quelled, they are reasonably successful in achieving workers' demands.²¹⁷

Due to their illegality, workers' protests are always organised independently of their trade unions, except in the case of the miners' strike in 1994 (see previous part). In fact, trade unions have usually condemned striking workers, and have even informed the security forces of an imminent protest. This has led many workers' protests to include demands to remove trade union officials from their posts.

There has been a substantial increase in strikes and other protests since the government signed the 1991 IMF agreement. The number of protests prior to 1991 was also high, no doubt due to the acute economic difficulties experienced by the public sector from the mid-1980s onward. The year of the Gulf War and the following year, witnessed a slight drop in the number of protests, possibly due to tightened security conditions as a result of the government's attempts to prevent street demonstrations against Egypt's involvement in the Allied Coalition. The addition to this, the consequences of the IMF agreement (signed in May 1991) and of Law 203/1991 (passed in June) had not yet begun to be felt. However, from 1991 onward, the number of protests increased again, due to the government's need to reduce public expenditure and cut back the public sector (see Appendix Table 2).

In a study of 111 workers' protests between 1987 and 1993, at least 39 were successful in getting their demands recognised or in completely achieving their demands. See appendices of 'Adhi, 1997, op cit

For example, the company trade union of "Amiriya Spinning and Weaving Company informed security forces of a sit-in organised by workers in protest of a six-month delay in the payment of their salaries, and the workers were subsequently surrounded and arrested. See Al-Sha'b, 10 January 1997.

The Kafr al-Dawwar Spinning and Weaving workers' strike in October 1994 included such demands. See EOHR, op. cit.; and Stork op. cit.

There are no reports of demonstrations or other protests against the Gulf War organised by workers alone. However, workers may have taken part in such demonstrations.

The vast majority of protests from 1991 onward were concerned with the delay in the payment of bonuses, incentives, ²²¹ and wages: a reduction in incentives and bonuses; the withdrawal or reduction in services, such as buses that take employees to work; and the failure to renew temporary contracts resulting in the dismissal of workers. ²²² There appears to be a correlation between management's implementation of these measures and the announcement of the privatisation of the relevant company, suggesting that dismissals and reductions in bonuses, etc., are part of the restructuring process. For example, within three months of management reducing bonuses at Misr Dairy Products and Telemisr, Misr Dairy Products was unsuccessfully offered for sale and Telemisr sold a majority stake to private investors. Within two months of management dismissing 250 temporary contract workers at Bata Alexandria, the holding company decided to offer Bata branches for sale. ²²³

There are also cases of workers in recently privatised companies protesting against reductions in wages and other benefits. Workers in the Nasr Transformers and Electrical Products Company, Elmaco, sold in 1996 to a German-Egyptian joint venture company, held a three-day sit-in in March 1997 protesting against a number of decisions by the new management, including a reduction in incentives and benefits and the refusal to renew the work contracts of 150 workers. The security forces were called in to end the sit-in and the workers' concessions were not granted. Workers at the Zagazig plant of Coca Cola, which was one of the first three companies to be privatised in 1994, went on strike in September 1996 after the management cancelled bonuses and increased working hours.

It is interesting to note that the majority of protests between 1991 and 1994 took the form of strikes, as opposed to sit-ins or the boycott on cashing

54

Bonuses and incentives, which vary from year to year, represent as much as 56% of workers' income: Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, op. cit., pp. 1.

²²² See Adli, 1997, op. cit., pp. 6; and ACPSS, op. cit., pp. 430-31.

See Al-Ahali, 21 August 1996 re: Misr Dairy Products and Telemisr, and Al-Wafd, 26 February 1997 re: Bata.

¹²⁸ See Al-Musa da, May 1997, op. cit.

²²⁵ Sec Al-Sha'b, 10 September 1996.

paycheques.226 This is in contradistinction to protests prior to 1990, which tended to take the form of sit-ins or paycheck boycotts rather than strikes. Sitins involve workers continuing their work, but preventing management from entering the work place. The boycott on cashing paycheques is considered an effective form of protest by workers since it causes considerable problems for the government's accounting procedures. Within the discourse of the 'social contract' of the corporatist state-where workers' obligations lay in the realm of production, and the state, in return, rewarded this production through the distribution of certain benefits-the latter types of protest were more easily justifiable because workers could claim that they were not harming national production but merely publicising their grievances.227 The large absence of strikes prior to the mid-1980s, reflects the extent to which workers accepted the terms of the social contract. The increase in work stoppages since that date, and particularly since 1991, is a demonstration of workers' rejection of their obligations, due to the fact that the government has been failing to recognise and reward workers' production efforts as before. It may also represent workers' rejection of the state itself, whose legitimacy in the eyes of workers has been based on the social contract.

Despite the correlation between economic liberalisation and management attempts to reduce workers' incomes and job security, and workers' understanding of the end of the 'contract' that governed labour relations previously, there are virtually no reports of protests directly against privatisation or against the state. This is probably due to three reasons. First, as mentioned in the previous part, trade unions are generally in support of the government and its economic policies. As a result, anti-government and anti-privatisation forces are weak within the workers' milieu.

Second, as also mentioned in the previous part, workers have few links with political parties. This is an obstacle toward workers' understanding of their localised problems as part of a much larger whole which must be fought from various fronts. Without the ability to link reductions in incentives, to the rising cost of living, and even to the lack of democracy within the trade unions.

⁷³⁶ ACPSS, op. cit., pp. 432.

Pripstein Posusney, 1994, op. cit., pp. 233.

¹²⁸ I have counted only three such protests, See ACPSS, pp. 430–31; and Al-Ahali, 28 August 1996.

workers' protests will continue to be reactive and focused on immediate economic concerns.

Finally, since 1952, the state has developed a patrimonial relationship toward workers (which has been formalised by the corporatisation of the trade unions). In this relationship the state is like a patriarch always providing for its 'children'. The 'children' are absolved of any responsibility to act to safeguard their own livelihoods because, as government officials constantly remind them, "the state will guarantee workers' rights," Indeed, measures such as the employee shareholder associations and the early retirement scheme may have convinced workers that the government is not neglecting their rights. Consequently, workers (as well as other segments of society) have a tendency to wait and see the outcome of government legislation, in the belief that the government will make things right in the end. The result of this strategy is that a concerted effort to reverse a negative piece of legislation often occurs years after the legislation was enacted. 250

Informal Economic Activity and Moonlighting

Informal economic activity and moonlighting are not new phenomena in Egypt. Their emergence as strategies used by workers to compensate for a decline in their standards of living can be traced back to the years of the *infitah*. Although the private sector had continued to exist under Nasser, mainly in the areas of agriculture and some light industry, it expanded enormously as a result of Sadat's liberal economic policies.

For example, President Hosni Mubarak's May Day speech said that workers' rights would be protected and that the government would still retain responsibility for the lives of workers in privatised companies: see, Al-Ahram, 24 April 1996. The Egyptian delegation to the International Labour Conference, in Geneva, in June 1996, reiterated the same assurances: see, Al-Ahram, 7 June 1996. The minister of public enterprise announced that workers' profit-sharing rights would be retained, while the minister of Labour announced that the government's responsibility toward workers came before any economic considerations: see Al-Gumhuriya, 8 January 1997.

A prime example of this, is the 1992 law liberalising agricultural land rents which gave tenants and owners a grace period of 5 years (until October 1997). It was not until the beginning of 1997 that tenant farmers began to react to the negative consequences of the law.

The *infitah* led to the creation of new types of private enterprise that had its roots in Egypt's new links with the Western world, such as import-export businesses and tourism. These types of businesses provided much more lucrative employment opportunities than had previously been available under the private sector. In addition, the real estate boom of the 1970s led to increased employment opportunities for unskilled manual labour in the building industry. This type of employment was largely unregulated and of a temporary nature. Moreover, returning workers from the oil-producing countries following the oil boom, set up their own small businesses, such as shops and restaurants, or bought taxis. This expansion in private economic activity offered public sector workers the possibility of holding more than one job, although this was (and still is) illegal.

There are several definitions of the informal economic sector. Most studies on the subject characterise informal activity as any economic enterprise employing less than ten people. 214 JS Birks and CA Sinclair identify the informal sector as being small-scale and often family-based, utilising local materials and adapted technologies, being labour intensive, having no barriers to entry, and promoting the informal acquisition of skills. 236 Like moonlighting, the informal sector has grown under the wing of the private sector and the increased availability of capital from migration to the oil-producing states. Many informal economic activities are spin-off activities from the 'formal' private sector, such as craft and artisan activities for the

³¹ Richards, Waterbury, 1991, pp. 243.

See Ragui Assaad, "The Structure of Egypt's Construction Labour Market and its Development Since the Mid-1970s", in Handoussa and Potter (eds.) op. cit., pp. 125-63.

A study of economic activity in six working class districts of Cairo found that 35% of owners of manufacturing enterprises had established their businesses with remittances from their work abroad. Günter Meyer, "Employment in Small-scale Manufacturing in Cairo: A Socio-economic survey", British Society for Middle Eastern Studies Bulletin, vol. 14, no. 2, 1988, pp. 6.

[&]quot;The structure and operation of the informal sector, see Soad Kamel Rizk, "The structure and operation of the informal sector in Egypt", in Handoussa and Potter (eds.), op. cit., pp. 168–70.

[&]quot; cited, in Ibid., pp. 168.

tourism industry, and vegetable and fruit vending for agriculture, while others fill a gap in services and production that are not provided by the 'formal' economy, such as transport (microbuses, service taxis, etc.).

Whatever the link between the 'formal' and the 'informal' economies, the informal economy encompasses all types of economic activity, from manufacturing to services. This may be explained by the long-term and deeprooted problem of the development of capitalism in Egypt. This problem is attributed to the way in which the Egyptian economy was incorporated into the world economy at the end of the nineteenth century. The British encouraged the export of raw cotton and stifled large-scale local manufacturing. As a result, capitalist production relations have never managed to develop to the extent of erasing pre-capitalist production relations. The latter have continued to exist in the informal sector, articulated with capitalist exchange relations.

There is a lack of reliable statistics on the current size of the informal sector, particularly in relation to the participation rates of public sector workers. However, Diane Singerman's study of a working-class Cairo neighbourhood in 1985 found that at least 38 percent of the neighbourhood's working population were employed in the informal sector as their primary source of income. However, the size of informal economic activity increased when people's secondary and tertiary sources of income were counted: 87 percent of the sample had second jobs in the informal sector, and 71 percent had third jobs. ²³⁸ Given that 63 percent of public sector workers had a second job, and at least 6 percent of these had a third job, the informal economy must have been absorbing a substantial percentage of the extra economic activity of public sector workers. ²³⁸ If it is possible to generalise from this small sample, then we have a picture where a large number of public sector workers in the 1980s moonlighted—some even having two jobs outside of their official job—and that an important source of this extra employment was in the informal sector.

58

^{ru} Ayubi, 1995, op. cit., pp. 91.

¹⁵⁷ Ibid., pp. 41.

²¹⁶ Singerman, op. vit., pp. 195.

¹⁵⁹ Ibid., pp. 181-82.

In view of these indications that public sector workers have resorted to taking second or third jobs in the past, then it is possible that they will also use this strategy in the current period. The rising costs of living and the fall in real wages, in addition to increased job insecurity, experienced by workers since the onset of economic liberalisation and privatisation represent pressures to seek extra employment. He meanwhile, other sources of additional income have been closed over the past few years due to the slowdown in the numbers of workers emigrating as a consequence of the downturn in the economies of the oil-producing states and the tightened immigration regulations of the European Union countries. Finally, economic liberalisation will no doubt boost the growth of job opportunities in the informal sector, as private economic activity is allowed to develop without the restraints that were formerly placed upon it.

Nevertheless, despite the ability of the 'informal' economy to generate muchneeded extra employment and income unavailable within the 'formal'
economy, this sector has many disadvantages for workers. To begin with it
lessens the pressure on the state to ensure the creation of employment that is
capable of paying a salary adequate to meet the basic costs of living.
Furthermore, the informal economy is often characterised by low wages, and
this constitutes one of the factors helping to keep wages down in the 'formal'
economy, including the public sector.²⁴¹

Clientelism and Family and Community Networks

Clientelism describes informal ties in which goods and services are exchanged between people of unequal status (a patron and a client). As mentioned previously, the stability of the Egyptian state has been based until now upon its ability to function as a patron to its citizens, through the provision of welfare through the public sector. In addition, the state has used more 'informal' mechanisms to distribute its patronage, the most important of these being the ruling NDP.

However, clientelism exists outside the structures of the NDP, although it is usually linked to the state and the public sector in some way. For example, id-dallalaat (female peddlers) buy people's ration cards, and then bribe

CTUWS, pp. 1-2.

Singerman, op. cit., pp. 239.

government food co-operative employees to sell them subsidised food in bulk, which they then resell on the black market at a profit. 242 Workers are fully integrated into such networks as a means of obtaining goods and services, in particular, subsidised food often unavailable through official or legal avenues due to the government's reduction in food subsidies since the middle of the 1980s. 241 Clientelist networks can also be used for finding jobs in the private/informal sector, or abroad, and for joining savings clubs. Women play a particularly important role in these networks. 241

Members of clientelistic networks are usually linked by kinship (either real or imagined).²⁴⁵ Therefore, the family and local community play an important role in maintaining the system of clientelism.²⁴⁰ On a macro-level, this leads to a situation where vertical differentiation, along lines of family, kinship, community, religion, or ethnicity, become more important than horizontal differentiation such as class.²⁴⁷ The two lines of linkage may become intermeshed. For example, workers in trade union elections vote for candidates from the same village of origin, believing that such a candidate is more likely to understand the problems they are facing.²⁴⁸

Economic liberalisation may be strengthening these vertical linkages. The reduction in the state's provision of subsidised goods and services coupled with the stagnating wages of many workers makes access to clientelistic

¹⁴² Ibid., pp. 166-70.

Mohaya A. Zaytoun, "Earnings and the Cost of Living: An Analysis of Recent Developments in the Egyptian Economy", in Handoussa and Potter (eds.), op. cit., pp. 248.

²⁴⁴ Evelyn A., Early, Baladi Women of Cairo (Boulder, Colorado: Lynne Rienner, 1993), pp. 183.

Imagined kinship refers to deep relationships between people who are not blood-related. In Egypt, people refer to long-standing friends and acquaintances as 'brother'/ 'sister' or 'maternal aunt'/ 'maternal uncle', depending on the differences in ages.

²⁸ See Singerman, op eit, in particular Ch. 3.

²⁴⁷ Ayubi, 1995, op. cit., pp. 175.

^{18 &#}x27;Abbas, Barakat, and Riffat, op cu., pp. 8

networks even more crucial as a means of securing survival. However, rather than clientelistic networks linking to the state, which is trying to reduce its costly patronage function, they may instead link to the increasingly important informal sector, or to civil organisations (discussed below) whose resources often come from informal economic activity or private donations.

Finally, the family plays another role for the workers, and the urban poor in general, in securing an adequate standard of living. A working-class household not only represents a group of related people living under one roof, but also a mini-work force that can be mobilised to increase a family's income. Whereas traditionally it has been the male members of the household who went out to work, women are also joining the work force in order to bring additional income into the family home. In extreme cases of poverty, children may also be sent out to work.²⁴⁹

Links with Civil Organisations

Civil organisations have a long history in Egypt. However, since the 1952 Revolution, they have mainly taken the form of private voluntary organisations (PVOs) acting in the fields of social and health services. The vast majority of these PVOs are linked to and funded by mosques or churches. They also receive some financial assistance from the state, and are subject to state supervision over their activities, accounts, and the formation of their boards. This has greatly restricted the activities of these organisations and, therefore, they are not totally autonomous from the state as the term civil organisations implies.²⁵⁰

Three factors have led to the increased activity and expansion in the number of PVOs since the 1970s. First, the state's inability to supply the goods and services demanded by its citizens from the mid-1980s onward led to an increase in civil organisations providing health care, education, and other

Shukr Allah, op cit., pp. 13-16.

For a discussion of the role of PVOs in Egyptian society, see Moheh Zaki, Civil Society and Democratization in Egypt: 1981–1994 (Cairo: Ibn Khaldoun Center for Development Studies, 1994), pp. 56–65. In reference to Law 32/1964 governing PVOs, see Khalil, op. cit., pp. 167–70.

welfare services.²³¹ Civil welfare organisations offer much-needed services to residents of working-class neighbourhoods, where state-owned services are usually overstretched. Second, the growth of the private sector and the informal economy provided civil organisations with an independent source of funds. Third, the state's continued restriction of political participation has led to an increase in civil organisations which are used as a source of political mobilisation, particularly with regard to the Islamists.²⁵²

In addition to welfare-oriented organisations, there has been a noticeable increase in organisations concerned with human rights.²⁵³ These organisations have attempted to lobby the government and raise awareness with regard to various rights, including those relevant to workers, such as the right to free association. Some of these organisations have programs that specifically deal with the rights of workers, such as the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, which offers free legal aid to workers wishing to file complaints against their employers or the state. It has filed a number of cases to challenge the constitutionality of certain articles of Law 35/1976 on trade unions, dealing with trade union election procedures, the powers of the Ministry of Labour over the trade unions, and the freedom to form independent trade unions. If successful, the centre's actions could result in the law's repeal.²⁵⁴ Another organisation which deals specifically with workers' issues is the Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services (Dar al-Khadamat al-Niqahīya), created following the upsurge in worker protests at the end of the 1980s. The centre is

²⁵¹ Saad Eddin Ibrahim, Egypt, Islam, and Democracy (Cairo: American University in Cairo Press, 1996), pp. 253.

²⁰² Zaki. op. cit. pp. 63.

For example, the Egyptian Organization for Human Rights, the Cairo Institute for Human Rights Studies, the Legal Resource and Research Center for Human Rights, and the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid. It should be noted that none of these organisations are registered with the Ministry of Social Affairs in accordance with Law 32/1964. Instead, they are registered as civil companies. However, the Egyptian Organization for Human Rights, which is the only membership organisation, and therefore cannot register as a civil company, has filed a case against the Ministry of Social Affairs in order to allow it to register as a Law 32/1964 organisation.

²⁵⁴ Interview with Gasser Abdel Razek, executive director of the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, Cairo, 19 September 1997.

focusing on the development of the trade unions to meet the needs of its membership in light of the current changes. Its most recent activity, in cooperation with the French trade union, the CGT, is training for company trade unionists in negotiating wages and work conditions. This skill was not previously needed by trade unionists since the government determined all aspects of Labour relations.²⁵⁵ However, this is no longer the case with the issuing of Law 203/1991 on public enterprise companies.²⁵⁶

The increase in civil organisations represents an important resource for workers seeking to protect their economic and political interests in the current period. The activities mentioned above have the potential to significantly improve workers' situation. However, the government still regards independent associations with suspicion, and so-called 'non-political' issues such as the distribution of goods and services, and the granting of rights have the capacity to challenge the legitimacy of the regime. Consequently, the government continues to closely monitor these organisations and is able to close down those of which it disapproves, using the wide powers granted the authorities by the emergency law and Law 32/1964 governing PVOs. Such a situation has limited the ability of civil organisations to forge close links with workers, and may continue to be an obstacle in the foreseeable future.

80 08

Interview with Kamal 'Abbas, head of the Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, Helwan. 16 September 1997.

See Ch. 2 here for details of Law 203/1991.

CONCLUSION

The process of economic liberalisation is substantially altering the structures of corporatism laid in place during the Nasserist period. This process is a dynamic one—between state and society. As the state is forced to withdraw from its previous role, those who have benefited from the state's intervention in the economy, such as workers, attempt to shape their environment in order to secure their interests. Consequently, new patterns of politics are beginning to emerge.

The most significant impact that economic liberalisation is having on politics is in reducing the state's economic resources. This entails a loss of political power since the state has maintained its hegemony over society through the distribution of patronage through various channels. In terms of formal distribution mechanisms, the most important of these has been the trade unions. Trade unions were co-opted into the structures of the state as channels for state distribution, rather than as representatives of workers. During the expansionary phase of the state, this situation actually resulted in the granting of many benefits to workers. Now that the state is seeking to withdraw these benefits, the trade unions are incapable of protecting the interests of their membership. Instead, they generally act more as the state's representative among workers, trying to contain workers' protest actions.

The other important distribution mechanism for the state has been through its ruling party, the NDP. Although the NDP is a 'formal' political party, the party's function of distributing patronage is 'informal'. The ability of the state to replace formal political participation with patronage and clientelism has resulted in the marginalisation of the opposition political parties, whose resources could never match those of the ruling party. Individuals are more likely to vote for the candidate that can provide the goods and services that their community needs, than to vote for the candidate whose political platform they agree with.

The economic liberalisation process brings into question the ability of the state to continue to distribute its patronage through the above mentioned channels. Without the state's economic resources to sustain them, the trade unions and the NDP as they exist now will not be able to guarantee the state's hegemony. Some indications of the changing structures of corporatism are already apparent.

The decline in the ability of the trade unions to contain workers' protests is already visible through the increasing numbers of strikes in public sector companies. These strikes are predominantly organised outside of the official trade unions. However, in some cases, these protests are being supported by the company unions, illustrating the extent to which the trade union structures are fragmenting. The increase in workers' protests are a threat to the government, not because workers' demands are in any way revolutionary, but simply because the mere existence of strikes in the public sphere reflects the loss of state hegemony in workers' eyes.

The creation of employee shareholder associations may be one way for the government to guarantee continued political quiescence. However, this structure is by no means as reliable as the official trade union structure. To begin with, shareholders possess some measure of economic power through the owning of shares, which they may be able to translate into political power. More dangerous for the regime is the fact that by creating ESAs, the state is tying its fortunes to those of the stock market. If the collapse of a pyramid savings scheme could topple the in Albania, it is possible that a collapse in the stock market could badly dent the legitimacy of the Egyptian government.

The second indication of changing structures is the extent (albeit limited until now) to which the Egyptian Businessmen's Association has managed to make inroads into the NDP. The continuation of this trend will provide the state with a new base of support, as well as access to the economic resources of this class of private entrepreneurs. However, in the process, the regime may have to compromise its current monopoly over decision-making. In addition to this, the business community will provide a much narrower base of power for the regime than was previously enjoyed.

Mevertheless, two aspects of the current situation work in the state's favour to compensate for the drawbacks of the new structures. First, the government has built strong ties with foreign donors, such as the US and the IMF, who have an

interest in seeing economic liberalisation succeed. The most important prerequisite for this is continued political stability. Therefore, foreign donors have supported Egypt's economic policies by giving economic assistance, which the state is able to dispense to those parts of society it wishes to co-opt. Secondly, where persuasion fails, the government can coerce the population through its huge security apparatus, which is responsible for clamping down on strikes and other protests, as well as monitoring the activities of opposition political parties and civil organisations.

For workers, economic liberalisation has short-term negative effects, but potentially long-term positive effects. In the short-term, workers are experiencing a deterioration in their standards of living, as they lose their rights to bonuses and incentives, holidays, and even employment security. Currently, workers are able to seek redress in the courts where an employer violates labour legislation. However, once the new draft labour law is passed, workers will no longer have that option. With the decline in the trade union structures, and the continued restrictions on political freedom, we have a situation where the formal structures of the corporatist state are no longer able to contain workers' dissent, except through the ESAs and the early retirement scheme. However, these two mechanisms currently have a limited constituency. ESAs are only operational in companies which have sold their shares, and these companies are still a minority. Meanwhile, the ERS is only available for male workers over the age of 50 and female workers over the age of 45.

The state's inability to create comprehensive formal mechanisms that can channel workers' grievances means that many workers have turned to informal mechanisms, such as unofficial protests, family and community networks, the informal economy, and civil organisations, in order to protect their interests. This is a potentially positive trend since informal mechanisms have advantages over formal mechanisms. They are autonomous from state control, and generally more inclusive than formal mechanisms—for example, ESAs or the ERS. Although, it should be noted that some informal networks rely on kinship and community ties, and in this sense they have the potential to be exclusive.

Economic liberalisation boosts the process of the 'informalisation' of politics, since it entails a process of privatising economic power, and hence political power. The liberalisation of the economic sphere allows more economic

resources to escape from the control of the state. Already, the limited economic liberalisation from the 1970s onward has opened the way for the autonomous accumulation of wealth and the growth of the informal economy. Although it is not workers that have created this 'second sector', they represent a large number of the beneficiaries, either as employees in the informal economy or as consumers of the services of civil organisations. Many scholars have pointed to the potential for this trend to erode the state's authority since it demonstrates the ineffectiveness of government economic policies and provides resources for non-state actors to challenge the government. This point is illustrated by the growth in Islamist-run civil welfare organisations funded through mosques, together with the 'Islamist' businesses set up by returning migrants from the Gulf states from the 1970s.

However, this optimism about the informalisation of politics should be tempered by an observation on the current nature of politics. As noted before, political parties, and civil and political freedoms in general, are highly restricted in Egypt. As a result, politics in Egypt has become dominated by the state's agenda for distributing economic resources, rather than concepts of political participation in the process of deciding who receives these economic resources. Economic liberalisation and the informalisation of politics are challenging the state's monopoly over the structures which currently distribute resources. However, there is no vision of what shape these new structures will take and what their goals should be. Without an organisational and ideological framework of political parties promoting a vision of society, informal political responses will be unable to progress beyond their current fragmented and localised nature. Such structures may enable workers to obtain more economic resources than would be possible through the current formal channels, but they will not be able to achieve long-term, guaranteed standards for workers, such as freedom from arbitrary dismissal, minimum wages, and minimum holiday leave. To see the informalisation of politics as a solution to state control over workers' actions, is to miss the point that the ultimate protection of workers' interests lies in the creation of a legislative framework that supports both their economic and political rights. In other words, more state intervention, rather than less state intervention, is needed in the legislative sphere, but in a way that supports political freedoms. This alone will give workers the opportunity

For example, see Singerman, op cit., pp. 243.

to build on current informal mechanisms and protests to create organisations able to guarantee their long-term interests.

80 08

APPENDIX

Table 1: Privatisation of Public Sector Companies by Method, until March 1997

Method	1991	1992	1993	1994	1995	1996	Mar 1997	Total
IPOs*		-	9.	-	-	15	4	19
Liquidations	4	2	1	1	2	1	-	11
ESAs [‡]	-		-	10		-	-	10
Anchor investors*		-	-	3	-	3	-	6
Total	4	2	1	14	2	19	4	46
% of total	9	4	2	30	4	42	9	100

Source: Public Enterprise Office, compilation by International Business & Technical Consultants, Inc. BTC1 Quarterly Review Jan-Mar 1997 (Cairo: IBTCI, 1997), pp. 1.

[†] Initial Public Offerings: share offerings to the public through the stock market.

Employee Shareholder Associations: see later in this part for further details.

* One investor or a group of investors who buy a controlling stake in a company.

Table 2: The Number of Workers' Protests, 1986-1993

Year	Number of protests
1986	13
1987	4
1988	16
1989	21
1990	12
1991	9
1992	24
1993	25

Source: Huwayda 'Adli, al-Haraka al-'ummaliya wa aliyat muqawamat al-ifqar: 1987-1993 [The labour movement and the mechanics of resisting impoverishment: 1987-1993] (Cairo: Centre for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997), pp. 4-5.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

Sources in English and French:

Books

- Abdel-Malek, Anouar, Égypte: Société Militaire (Paris: Editions du Seuil, 1962).
- Ajami, Fouad, The Arab Predicament: Arab Thought and Practice Since 1967 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1992, second edition).
- American Chamber of Commerce, A Comparative Study of Egypt, Jordan, Syria, Lebanon, Palestine, and Israel (Cairo: American Chamber of Commerce, 1996).
- Amin, Samir, Class and Nation: Historically and in the Current Crisis (New York & London: Monthly Review Press, 1980).
- Arat, Zehra F., Democracy and Human Rights in Developing Countries (Boulder & London: Lynne Rienner, 1991).
- Assaad, Ragui, "The Structure of Egypt's Construction Labour Market and its Development Since the Mid-1970s", in Heba Handoussa and Gillian Potter (eds.), Employment and Structural Adjustment: Egypt in the 1990s (Cairo: The American University in Cairo Press, 1991).
- Assaad, Ragui, "An Analysis of Compensation Programs for Redundant Workers in Egyptian Public Enterprise", Working Paper 9701 (Cairo: Economic Research Forum for the Arab Countries, Iran, and Turkey, June 1996).
- Ayubi, Nazih N M. Bureaucracy and Politics in Contemporary Egypt (London: Ithaca Press, 1980).
- Ayubi, Nazih N M, "Government and the State in Egypt Today", in Charles Tripp and Roger Owen (eds.), Egypt Under Muharak (London: Routledge, 1989).

- Ayubî, Nazih N M, Political Islam: Religion and Politics in the Arab World, (London: Routledge, 1991).
- Ayubi, Nazih N M, Over-stating the Arab State: Politics and Society in the Middle East (London: I.B. Tauris, 1995).
- Beinin, Joel and Zachary Lockman, Workers on the Nile: Nationalism, Communism, Islam, and the Egyptian Working Class, 1882–1954 (London: I.B. Tauris, 1988).
- Beinin, Joel, "Will the Real Egyptian Working Class Please Stand Up?", in Zachary Lockman (ed.), Workers and the Working Classes in the Middle East: Struggles, Histories, Historiographies, (New York: SUNY, 1994).
- Berik, Gunseli, Cihan Bilginsoy, "The Labor Movement in Turkey: Labor Pains, Maturity, Metamorphosis", in Ellis J. Goldberg (ed.), The Social History of Labor in the Middle East (Boulder: Westview Press, 1996).
- Bianchi, Robert, Unruly Corporatism: Associational Life in Twentieth Century Egypt (New York & Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1989).
- Bianchi, Robert, "Interest Groups and Politics in Mubarak's Egypt", in Ibrahim M. Oweiss (ed.), The Political Economy of Contemporary Egypt (Washington, DC: Center for Contemporary Arab Studies, 1990).
- Burke III, Edmund, "The History of the Working Classes in the Middle East: Some Methodological Considerations", in Zachary Lockman (ed.), Workers and the Working Classes in the Middle East: Struggles, Histories, Historiographies (New York: SUNY Press, 1994).
- Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, "Final Report on the Legislative Elections in Egypt", (Cairo: CHRLA, 1995).
- Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, "Activity Report: 1996", (Cairo: CHRLA, 1997).
- Central Cooperative Union, Consumer Cooperation in Egypt (Cairo: CCU, 1984).
- Chakrabarty, Dipesh, Rethinking Working-Class History: Bengal 1890–1940 (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1989).
- Chakrabarty, Dipesh, "Labor History and the Politics of Theory: An Indian Angle on the Middle East," in Zachary Lockman (ed.), Workers and the

- Working Classes in the Middle East: Struggles, Histories, Historiographies (New York: SUNY Press, 1994).
- Clark, John, Democratising Development (London: Earthscan Publications, 1991).
- Cooper, Mark, Egyptian Arab Socialism and its Breakdown, unpublished doctoral dissertation, (Northeastern University, Boston, Massachusetts, 1981) (no pagination on copy).
- Davis, Eric, "History for the many or history for the few? The Historiography of the Iraqi Working Class", in Zachary Lockman (ed.), Workers and the Working Classes in the Middle East: Struggles, Histories, Historiographies (New York: SUNY Press, 1994).
- Dessouki, Ali E. Hillal, "The Public Sector in Egypt: Organization, Evolution, and Strategies of Reform", in Heba Handoussa and Gillian Potter (eds.), Employment and Structural Adjustment: Egypt in the 1990s (The American University in Cairo Press; Cairo, 1991).
- Eagleton, Terry, Ideology: An Introduction (London: Verso 1991).
- Early, Evelyn A., Baladi Women of Catro: Playing with an Egg and a Stone (Boulder, Colorado: Lynne Rienner, 1993).
- El-Naggar, Said (ed.), Privatization and Structural Adjustment in the Arab Countries, Papers Presented at a Seminar Held in Abu Dhabi, UAE, December 5–7, 1988 (Washington, DC: International Monetary Fund, 1989).
- Fox Piven, Frances, and Richard A. Cloward, Poor People's Movements: Why They Succeed, How They Fail (New York: Vintage Books, 1979).
- Goldberg, Ellis J., Tinker, Tailor, and Textile Worker: Class and Politics in Egypt, 1930–1952 (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1986).
- Goldberg, Ellis, "Worker's Voice and Labor Productivity in Egypt", in Zachary Lockman (ed.), Workers and the Working Classes in the Middle East: Struggles, Histories, Historiographies (New York: SUNY Press, 1994).
- Goldberg, Ellis J. (ed.), The Social History of Labor in the Middle East (Boulder; Westview Press, 1996).

- Handoussa, Heba, and Gillian Potter (eds.), Employment and Structural Adjustment: Egypt in the 1990s (Cairo: The American University in Cairo Press, 1991).
- Harbeson, John W., Donald Rothchild, Naomi Chazan (eds.), Civil Society in Africa (London: Lynne Rienner, 1994).
- Harik, Iliya and Denis J. Sullivan (eds.), Privatization and Liberalization in the Middle East (Bloomington & Indianapolis: Indiana University Press, 1992).
- Hinnebusch, Raymond A., "The Formation of the Contemporary Egyptian State from Nasser and Sadat to Mubarak", in Ibrahim M. Oweiss (ed.), The Political Economy of Contemporary Egypt (Washington, DC: Center for Contemporary Arab Studies, 1990).
- Hussein, Mahmoud, Class Conflict in Egypt, 1945–1970 (New York: Monthly Review Press, 1973).
- Ibrahim, Saad Eddin, Egypt, Islam, and Democracy (Cairo: The American University in Cairo Press, 1996).
- Institute for National Planning, Egypt: Human Development Report, 1994 (Cairo: INP, 1995).
- International Business & Technical Consultants, Inc., IBTCI Quarterly Review Jan-Mar 1997 (Cairo: IBTCI, 1997).
- Lockman, Zachary (ed.), Workers and the Working Classes in the Middle East: Struggles, Histories, Historiographies (New York: SUNY Press, 1994).
- Mabro, Robert, The Egyptian Economy 1952-1972 (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1974), pp. 154-60.
- MacGaffey, Janet, "Civil Society in Zaire: Hidden Resistance and the Use of Personal Ties in Class Struggle", in John W. Harbeson, Donald Rothchild, and Naomi Chazan (eds.), Civil Society in Africa (London: Lynne Rienner, 1994).
- Malloy, James, ed. Authoritarianism and Corporatism in Latin America (Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press, 1977).
- Ministry of Manpower & Training, UN Population Fund, International Labor Organization, "Survey of Returning Labor from Kuwait & Iraq as a

- Result of the Gulf Crisis", (Cairo: Ministry of Manpower & Training, 1992).
- Moghadam, Valentine M., "Making History, but Not of Their Own Choosing: Workers and the Labor Movement in Iran," in Ellis J. Goldberg (ed.), The Social History of Labor in the Middle East (Boulder: Westview Press, 1996).
- Mohieldin, Mahmoud and Sahar Nasr, "Privatization in Egypt with Reference to the Experience of the Czech Republic and Mexico," paper given at a conference on, *The Privatization Debate in the Egyptian Parliament*, 22–25 November 1995, Alexandria.
- National Institute of Planning, Egypt Human Development Report 1994, (Cairo: National Institute of Planning, 1995).
- Niblock, Tim, and Emma Murphy (eds.), Economic and Political Liberalisation in the Middle East (London: British Academic Press, 1993).
- Norton, Augustus Richard (ed.), Civil Society in the Middle East, volumes 1 and 2. (Leiden: E.J. Brill, 1995).
- Oweiss, Ibrahim M. (ed.) The Political Economy of Contemporary Egypt (Washington, DC: Center for Contemporary Arab Studies, 1990).
- Partnership in Development Project, "Employee Stock Ownership Plan Manual", (Cairo: PIDP, June 1995), (no pagination on copy).
- Pravda, Alex, "Industrial Workers: Patterns of Dissent, Opposition and Accommodation", in Rudolf L. Tokės (ed.), Opposition in Eastern Europe (London: Macmillan Press Ltd., 1979).
- Pripstein Posusney, Marsha, "Labor as an Obstacle to Privatization: The Case of Egypt", in Iliya Harik, and Denis J. Sullivan (eds.), *Privatization and Liberalization in the Middle East* (Bloomington & Indianapolis: Indiana University Press, 1992).
- Pripstein Posusney, Marsha, "Collective Action and Workers' Consciousness in Contemporary Egypt", in Zachary Lockman (ed.), Workers and the Working Classes in the Middle East: Struggles, Histories, Histories (New York: SUNY Press, 1994).

- Richards, Alan, and John Waterbury, A Political Economy of the Middle East:

 State, Class, and Economic Development (Cairo: The American University in Cairo Press, 1991).
- Richards, Alan, John Waterbury, A Political Economy of the Middle East (Boulder, Colorado: Westview Press, 1996, second edition).
- Rizk, Soad Kamel, "The Structure and Operation of the Informal Sector in Egypt", in Heba Handoussa, and Gillian Potter (eds.), Employment and Structural Adjustment: Egypt in the 1990s (Cairo: The American University in Cairo Press, 1991).
- Shrukrallah, Hani, "Political Crisis and Political Conflict in Post-1967 Egypt", in Charles Tripp and Roger Owen (eds.), Egypt Under Mubarak (London: Routledge, 1989).
- Singerman, Diane, Avenues of Participation: Family, Politics, and Networks in Urban Quarters of Cairo (Cairo: The American University in Cairo Press, 1997) (first published by Princeton University Press, 1995).
- Social Fund for Development, Annual Report 1995 (Cairo: Social Fund for Development, 1996).
- Springborg, Robert, Family, Power, and Politics in Egypt: Sayed Bey Marei-His Clan, Clients, and Cohorts (Philadelphia: University of Philadelphia Press, 1982).
- Thompson, E.P., The Making of the English Working Class (New York: Vintage House, 1966).
- Wallerstein, Immanuel, (ed.), Labour in the World Social Structure (London: SAGE Publications, 1983).
- Waterbury, John, The Egypt of Nasser and Sadat: The Political Economy of Twa Regimes (Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1983).
- Wolfe, Joel, Working Women, Working Men: Sao Paulo and the Rise of Brazil's Industrial Working Class, 1900–1955 (London: Duke University Press, 1993).
- World Bank, "Financial Policy for Adjustment and Growth", vol. 1, (Cairo: World Bank Egypt, 1993).
- World Bank, Workers in an Integrating World: World Development Report 1995 (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 1995).

76

- Zaki, Moheb, Civil Society and Democratization in Egypt: 1981–1994 (Cairo: Ibn Khaldoun Center for Development Studies, 1994).
- Zaytoun, Mohaya A., "Earnings and the Cost of Living: An Analysis of Recent Developments in the Egyptian Economy", in Heba Handoussa, and Gillian Potter (eds.), Employment and Structural Adjustment: Egypt in the 1990s (Cairo: The American University in Cairo Press, 1991).

Articles

- al-Sayyid, Mustafa Kamel, ": The Egyptian Debate", Cairo Papers in Social Science, vol. 13, no. 4, Winter 1990.
- Bayat, Asef, "Cairo's Poor, Dilemmas of Survival and Solidarity", Middle East Report, no. 202, Winter 1997.
- Beinin, Joel, "Labor, Capital, and the State in Nasserist Egypt, 1952-1961", International Journal of Middle East Studies, 21, Fall 1989.
- Bianchi, Robert, "The Corporatization of the Egyptian Labor Movement", Middle East Journal, 40, Summer 1986.
- Clawson, Patrick, "The Development of Capitalism in Egypt" Khamsin, issue 9, 1981.
- Egyptian Organisation for Human Rights, press release on workers' protests at Kafr al-Dawwar, 6 October 1994.
- El Shafei, Omar, "Workers, Trade Unions and the State", Cairo Papers in Social Science, vol. 18, monograph 2, Summer 1995.
- Goldberg, Ellis J., "The Foundations of State-Labor Relations in Today's Egypt", Comparative Politics, vol. 24, no. 2, January 1992.
- Haile-Mariam, and Yacob Bernhanu Mengistu, "Public Enterprises and the Privatisation Thesis in the Third World", Third World Quarterly, vol. 10, no. 4, October 1990.
- International Labour Organisation, Yearbook of Statistics (Geneva: ILO [various years]).
- Korbonski, A. (ed.), Communist and Post-Communist Studies: Blue Collar Workers in Post-communist Transitions, vol. 28, no. 1, March 1995.
- Löfgren, Hans, "Egypt's Program for Stabilization and Structural Adjustment: An Assessment", in The Economics and Politics of Structural Adjustment in Egypt, Third Annual Symposium, Cairo Papers in Social Science, vol. 16, monograph 3, Fall 1993.
- Meyer, Günter, "Employment in Small-scale Manufacturing in Cairo: A Socio-economic survey", British Society for Middle Eastern Studies Bulletin, vol. 14, no. 2, 1988.

78

- Payne, Leigh A., "Working Class Strategies in the Transition to Democracy in Brazil", Comparative Politics, vol. 23, no. 2, January 1991.
- Said, Mona, "Public Sector Employment and Labor Markets in Arab Countries: Recent Development and Policy Issues", Working Paper no. 9630 (Cairo: Economic Research Forum for the Arab Countries and Turkey, 1994).
- Schamis, Hector E., "Reconceptualizing Latin American Authoritarianism in the 1970s: From Bureaucratic-Authoritarianism to Neoconservatism", Comparative Politics, vol. 23, no. 2, January 1991.
- Schmitter, Phillipe, "Still the Century of Corporatism?" Review of Politics, vol. 36, January 1974.
- Soliman, Ali A., "Economic Reform and Privatization in Egypt", Kurasat Istratijiya, (Cairo: Al-Ahram Center for Political and Strategic Studies, 1996).
- Stork, Joe, "Egypt's factory Privatisation campaign turns deadly", Middle East Report, vol. 25, no. 1, Jan-Feb 1995.
- Valenzuela, J. Samuel, "Labour Movements in Transitions to Democracy: A Framework for Analysis". Comparative Politics, vol. 21, no. 4, July 1989.

Sources in Arabic:

- 'Abbas, Kamal, et al. (eds.), al-Haraka al-'ummaliya fi ma'arakat altahawwul: dirasa fi-l-intikhabat al-niqabiya 1991 [The labour movement in the struggle for change: a study of the union elections 1991] (Cairo: Arab Research Center, 1994).
- 'Abbas, Kamal, Sabr Barakat, Rahma Rif'at, "Intikhabat fi muftaraq al-turuq" [Elections at the cross-roads], (Cairo: Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997).
- 'Adli, Huwayda, "al-Haraka al-'ummaliya wa aliyat muqawamat al-ifqar: 1987–1993" [The labour movement and the mechanics of resisting impoverishment: 1987-1993], (Cairo: Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997).
- Adli, Huwayda, al-'Ummal wa-l-siyasa: al-dawr al-siyasi li-l-haraka al-'ummaliya fi Misr min 1952–1981 [Workers and politics: the political role of the labour movement in Egypt 1952-1981] (Cairo: Kitab Al-Ahali, no. 45, 1993).
- Al-Ahram Center for Political and Strategic Studies, Al-Taqrir al-istratiji 1994 [Strategic Report] (Cairo: Al-Ahram Center for Political and Strategic Studies, 1995).
- al-Ghamri, Muhammad, "Mulahazat naqdiya 'ala mashru'a qanun al-'amal almuwahhad al-jadid" [Critical remarks on the new unified draft labour law], background paper, (Cairo: Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, May 1996).
- Al-Jarida Rasmiya [Official Newspaper], no. 17, 27 April 1995.
- al-Shami, Zuhdi, "al-Tashghil wa-l-batala fi Misr" [Employment and unemployment in Egypt], (Cairo: Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997).
- Badawi, Hassan, "al-Taharrukat al-jama'iya li-l-'ummal: 1988-1991" [Collective labour movements in Egypt:1988-1991], in Kamal 'Abbas et al (eds.), al-Haraka al-'ummaliya fi ma'rakat al-tahawwul: dirasa fi-l-intikhabat al-naqabiya 1991. (Cairo: Arab Research Center, 1994).

- Barakat, Sabr, "Mustaqbal al-haraka al-'ummaliya fi Misr", [The future of the labour movement in Egypt], in Kamal 'Abbas et al (eds.), Al-Haraka al-'ummaliya fi ma'arakat al-tahawwul: dirasa fi-l-intikhabat al-naqabiya 1991. (Cairo: Arab Research Center, 1994).
- Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, "al-Hizb al-wahid fi qalib ta'addudiya" [One Party in a mould of pluralism], (Cairo: Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, June 1996).
- Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, "Ta'thir siyasat al-takayuf alhaykali 'ala al-awda' al-ijtima'iya wa-l-iqtisadiya li-l-'ummal wa fuqara' al-hadar' [The effect of the policy of structural adaptation on the social and economic conditions of the workers and urban poor], (Cairo; Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997).
- Khalil, 'Abd Allah, al-Qawanin al-muqayyida li-l-huquq al-madaniya wa-l-siyasiya fi-l tashri' al-Misri [Law governing civil and political rights in Egyptian legislation] (Cairo: Egyptian Organization for Human Rights, 1993).
- Mustafa, Hala (ed.), al-Intikhabat al-barlamaniya fi Misr 1995 [The 1995 Egyptian parliamentary elections] (Cairo: Al-Ahram Center for Political and Strategic Studies, 1996).
- Public Enterprise Office, Ministry of the Public Enterprise Sector, list of privatised companies, June 1997.
- Public Enterprise Office, Ministry of the Public Enterprise Sector, various figures on public sector workers, September 1997.
- Shukr Allah, Hala, "al-Awda' al-iqtisadiya wa istratijiyat al-baqa' al-khassa bil-fuqara' fi Misr' [Economic conditions and the strategy for survival relating to the poor in Egypt], (Cairo: Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, 1997).
- Thabit, Ahmad, "Taghayyur tabi'at wa-dawr al-dawla al-misriya fi daw' al-numuw al-tabi' wa siyasat sanduq al-naqd al-dawli" [Change in the nature and role of the Egyptian state in the light of subsidary development and IMF policy], in Samir Amin, (ed.), Al-Mujtama' w-al-dawla fi-l-watan al-'arabi [State and society in the Arab world] (Cairo: Maktabat Madbuli, 1996).

Newspapers, magazines, and press agency reports in Arabic, English, French:

Al-'Alam al-Yawm

Al-'Arabi

Al-Ahali

Al-Ahram

Al-Ahram al-Igtisadi

Al-Ahram, Hehdo.

ALAhram Weekly

Al-Ahrar

Al-Akhbar

Al-'Alam al-Yawm al-Usbu'i

The Egyptian Gazette

The Financial Times

Al-Gumhuriya

Al-Gumhuriya al-Usbu'i

Al-Haqiqa

Al-Hayar

Middle East Economic Digest

Al-Musa ada

Reuters

Al-Sha'b

Al-Siyasi al-Masri

Uktubir

Al-Wafd

Interviews:

^{&#}x27;Abbas, Kamal, head of the Center for Trade Union and Workers' Services, Helwan, 16 September 1997.

^{&#}x27;Abd al-Fattah, Ahmad Sayf al-Islam, lawyer, Cairo, 8 June 1996.

Abdel-Razek, Gasser, executive director of the Center for Human Rights Legal Aid, Cairo, 19 September 1997.

al-Hilali, Ahmad Nabil, lawyer specialist on labour rights, Cairo, 15 June 1996.

al-Sirafi, 'Atiya, retired trade unionist, Mit Ghamr, 23 May 1996.

Badawi, Hassan, editor of labour affairs for *Al-Ahali*, Cairo, 13 August 1997.

Sabir, Karam, lawyer specialist on labour rights, Cairo, 16 May 1996.

Wiliyam, 'Adil, left-wing activist, Mit Ghamr, 23 May 1996.

Legislation in English translation and Arabic:

- Capital Markets Law no. 95/1992 and its Executive Regulations, translated into English by the Middle East Library for Economic Services.
- Companies Law no. 159/1981, translated into English by the Middle East Library for Economic Services.
- Constitution of the Arab Republic of Egypt, 1971 and its Amendments of May 22, 1980, Cairo: General Organization for Government Printing Offices, 1981.
- Labor Law no. 137/1981 and its Executive Regulations, translated into English by the Middle East Library for Economic Services.
- Public Enterprise Sector Law no. 203/1991 and its Executive Regulations, translated into English by the Middle East Library for Economic Services.
- Social Insurance Law no. 79/1975, translated into English by the Middle East Library for Economic Services.

R) (8

Recent Titles in this Series

- No. 25 Urbanisation in the Arabian Peninsula, N.C. Grill, (1984)
- No. 26 Labour Unions, Law and Conditions in Iran (1900-1941), W. Floor, (1985)
- No. 27 Ataturk's Legacy to the Women of Turkey, I. Browning, (1985)
- No. 28 Foreign Policy Issues in the Middle East Afghanistan Iraq Turkey Morocco, R.I. Lawless (ed.), (1985)
- No. 29 Middle Eastern Exports: Problems and Prospects, B. Yilmaz, R. Wilson, P. Stevens and T. Hamauzu, (1986)
- No. 30 The Territorial Disintegration of a State: The Case of Lebanon, N. Kliot. (1986)
- No. 31 The Gulf in the Early 20th Century Foreign Institutions and Local Responses, R.I. Lawless (ed.), (1986)
- No. 33 Trade and Finance in Jordan, 1.1. Seccombe and R.I.A. Wilson, (1987)
- No. 34 The Genius of Usamah Ibn Munqidh: Aspects of Kitab a1-l'tibar by Usamah Ibn Munqidh, D.W. Morray, (1987)
- No. 35 The National Ideology of the Radical Algerians and the Formation of the FLN 1924-1954, Salah El Din El Zein El Tayeb, (1987)
- No. 38 Palestinian Americans Socio-political Attitudes of Palestinian Americans towards the Arab-Israeli Conflict, I. Barghouti, (1989)
- No. 39 Fisheries of the Arabian Sub-continent: A Bibliographic Study 1809-1983, Mata-Ur-Rahim, (1989)
- No. 40 Aspects of Religion in Secular Turkey, M. Wagstaff (ed.), (1990)
- No. 41 A State without a Nation, D. Stoten (ed.), (1992)
- No. 42 The Condominium Remembered, Proceedings of the Durham Sudan Historical Records Conference 1982, Volume 1: The Making of the Sudanese State, D. Lavin (ed.),(1991)
- No. 44 The Condominium Remembered, Proceedings of the Durham Sudan Historical Records Conference 1982, Volume 2: The Transformation of the Old Order in the Sudan, D. Lavin (ed.), (1993)
- No. 45 The Palestinian Economy and International Trade, R. Wilson, (1994)

- No. 46 Saudi Arabia's Foreign Policy: Relations with the Superpowers, M. Harrison, (1995)
- No. 47 Israel and the Palestinians: The Economic Rewards of Peace?, E. Murphy, (1995)
- No. 48 Islamic Banking in Practice: Problems in Jordan and Saudi Arabia, J. W. Wright, Jr., (1995)
- No. 49 Manufacturing and Women in the Middle East and North Africa: A Case Study of the Textiles and Garments Industry, V.M. Moghadam, (1995)
- No. 50 The Politics of Economic Restructuring in Post-Khomeini Iran, A. Ehteshami, (1995)
- No. 51 The Muslim Communities Project Volume 1: Muslim Communities in France, S. Taji-Farouki (ed.), (1995)
- No. 52 The Muslim Communities Project Volume 2: Muslim Communities in the Netherlands and Germany, S. Taji-Farouki (ed.), (1995)
- No. 53 Three Topics in Arabic Phonology, I. Dickins, B. Heselwood and J.C.E. Watson, (1996)
- No. 54 The Ubiquitous Faqih: A Reconsideration of the Terms Imam. Islam and 'Ilm and Their Role in the Rise to Predominance of the Jurist in the Islamic World of Learning, C. Turner, (1996)
- No. 55 An Israeli Plan to Transfer Galilee's Christians to South America: Yosef Weitz and "Operation Yohanan" 1949-53, N. Masalha, (1996)
- No. 56 The Oslo Agreement in Norwegian Foreign Policy, N. Butenschon, (1997)
- No. 57 The Egyptians of Britain: A Migrant Community in Transition, G. Karmi, (1997)
- No. 58 The Implications of the Revival of the Oil Industry in Azerbaijan, J. Hemming, (1998)
- No. 59 The Collapse and Reconstruction of Lebanon, T. Najem. (1998)

Notes for Contributors

All notes in the text should appear as footnotes. They should be numbered consecutively throughout the text. The abbreviation 'pp.' should be used for page numbers in footnotes. Full bibliographical information should only be given in the first citation of a work. When reference to the afore-mentioned work follows without interruption use 'Ihid'.

Examples:

N. Chomsky, Deterring Democracy (London: Vintage, 1992), pp. 45.

S. David, "Explaining Third World Alignment", World Politics, vol. 43, no. 2, January 1991, pp. 235.

When reference to the same work follows after interruption use 'op. cit.'.

Quotations

Short quotations (less than 3 lines) within the text should appear within quotation marks; longer quotations should be indented 0.5 cm along both the right and left margins. Words, punctuation, or italicisation not present in the original should be contained within square brackets.

Bibliography

A list of all the works cited in the text (and suggested readings if there are any) should be provided at the end of the text under the title 'Bibliography'. Please list all references alphabetically by author. Where more than one work is cited by an individual author, works for this author should be listed chronologically. Please supply complete information about the periodical data, such as volume, month, and page numbers. For example:

Kubursi, A. and S. Mansur, "Oil and the Gulf War: An 'American Century' or 'New World Order'," Arah Studies Quarterly, vol. 15, no. 4, Fall 1993, pp. 1-17.

Tables and Figures

Tables and figures should be submitted typed, using Word 7.0 or Excel 5.0, on separate sheets and not included as part of the text. If they are not supplied in this form, they will be redrawn by the publisher.

A hard copy, with double spacing and 2.5 cm margin on both sides, and a copy on a floppy disk on Word 7.0 should be sent to:

Dr Neil Quilliam
The British Council
Middle East Centre
Fourth Floor
P.O. Box 3424
Jeddah 21471
Saudi Arabia
e-mail: UVA3189@kaau.edu.sa

Please note that manuscripts failing to conform to the above guidelines will be returned to the author.